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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET (“GEM"”) OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a higher investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware
of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and
careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more
suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be
more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and
no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility
for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any
liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of

this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of L & A International Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of
giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to
the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all
material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make

any statement herein or this report misleading.
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OUR MILESTONES
FEEREW

The Group had experienced a special year. The Shares of L & A International Holdings Limited were successfully
listed on the GEM Board of the Stock Exchange on 10 October 2014. The day that sets a new page on L&A Group's
history.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

MEEE

Revenue
Gross profit
Operating profit (loss)
Profit (loss) for the year
Earnings (loss) per share
— basic and diluted (HK cents)
Proposed dividend per share

Y zs

EH

e d (BR)
FRas (BR)
&M (EBR)

— BEARR#E (GBIl
YIRS TTrs)

Year ended 31 March
BZEZ=HA=1+—HILLEE

2015

—E-RF
HK$'000
FTHERT

350,386
62,090
(16,435)
(18,391)

(0.53)

2014
—E—OF
HK$'000
FHBT

380,445
70,923
11,472

7,053

0.24

Percentage
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERBEE

Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present to you the annual results of L & A
International Holdings Limited (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the "Group”) for the financial year ended 31 March
2015.

The shares of our Company were listed on the GEM Board of the
Stock Exchange on 10 October 2014. On behalf of the Board of
Directors, | would like to thank the professional parties involved
and our staff for the successful listing. The listing has strengthened
our financial position and also raised additional capital for our
future development. Besides, it provided a good opportunity to
strengthen our internal control function and further promote our
Group as a trustworthy and well-organised establishment to the

general public.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group had experienced a special year for the financial year
ended 31 March 2015. In the first half of the year, the revenue of
the Group increased by approximately 2.0% compared to the same
period in financial year ended 31 March 2014. The revenue of the
OEM Business segment and the Retail Business segment increased

by approximately 1.7% and approximately 7.5%, respectively.

However, the trend was turned around in the second half of the
year. The revenue for the year ended 31 March 2015 decreased by
approximately 7.9% compared to financial year ended 31 March
2014. The revenue of the OEM Business segment and the Retail
Business segment decreased by approximately 7.2% and
approximately 14.8%.

For the OEM Business, as our major customers are located in
United States of America and we noticed that its garment sector of
the consumer market is still tough, especially in high-valued
clothing. It was impacted our sales of pure cashmere products and

directly affected our revenue from the OEM Business segment.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERBEE

For the Retail Business, we had performed well in the summer
season, the main reason is the success of our promotion strategy
and our expansion by opening new retail outlets. Up to November
2014, we had opened 3 free-standing stores located in Tin Shui
Wai, Ma On Shan and Shatin and 2 concession stores located in
AEON store in Kowloon City and Sincere Store in Sheung Wan.
However, when getting into second half of the year, the effect of
"Occupy Central” Movement deteriorated the general atmosphere
of the consumer market in Hong Kong. In addition, the warmer than
usual winter season in late 2014 and beginning of 2015 also
decreased our sales in the winter season, the normal peak season

for our Retail Business.

Prospects

For the OEM Business, we anticipate challenges not only from the
reducing sales order from our major customers, we are also facing
ever-increasing cost of productions in Mainland China. The
management will continue to find new customers to widen the
customer base and reallocate the resources for production
according to the order received in order to save cost. Although the
business environment is tough, we will try our best to remain stable

for our OEM Business segment.

For the Retail Business, we are will closely monitor about the
consumer’s behaviour and we will continue our promotion
campaign. We are also monitoring the movement of the rental of
retail outlets and will adjust our expansion plan for Retail Business if
necessary. Despite the uncertainties, we are still remain positive

towards our Retail Business.

Furthermore, we are also looking for new investment opportunities,

especially retail market in Mainland China and Hong Kong.

Finally, | would like to extend, on L & A International Holdings
Limited's behalf, my heartfelt gratitude to the shareholders of the
Company, members of the Board of Directors, management and
staff of the Group for their continuing support to our Company.

Yang Wan Ho

Chairman
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THBEMWR S

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group principally derives its revenue from manufacturing and
selling pure cashmere apparel and other apparel products under its
two business arms: (i) OEM Business segment, which entails
product design and development, raw material sourcing and
procurement, manufacturing and product quality control
management (the "OEM Business”) and (ii) apparel retail business
segment, which entails designing, procuring, manufacturing,
marketing and retailing of pure cashmere apparel and other
apparel products as well as accessories through an established
retail network in Hong Kong under the Group's proprietary
trademarks, “Casimira” and “Les Ailes” (the “Retail Business”).

For the OEM Business, over the year ended 31 March 2015, the
Company noted a tough retail environment globally and
experienced an unexpected weakened consumer sentiment. As a
result, there was a decrease in pure cashmere products orders
placed by our OEM customers. The sales orders of pure cashmere
products from our largest customer decreased by 31.4% from
approximately 420,000 units for the year ended 31 March 2014 to
approximately 288,000 units for the year ended 31 March 2015.
Although the total units sold to our largest customer increased by
4.2% to approximately 1,094,000 units, the total revenue from our
largest customer decreased by 11.1% from approximately HK$276.0
million for the year ended 31 March 2014 to approximately
HK$245.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2015.

On the other hand, due to the good quality of our products, we
had successfully obtained more orders from our second largest
customer. The revenue from our second largest customer increased
from approximately HK$19.5 million for the year ended 31 March
2014 to approximately HK$36.4 million for the year ended 31 March
2015, representing a 86.5% growth.

In order to meet the increase in production at Huizhou factory,
some machinery from the Ganzhou factory has been relocated to
Huizhou factory. In addition, the Company has benefited from a
resulting saving of logistic costs, streamlined production lines and
more effective use of available space in its Huizhou factory.

For the Retail Business, we have opened 5 more retail outlets
during the year ended 31 March 2015, located in Fortune
Kingswood in Tin Shui Wai, Ma On Shan Plaza in Ma On Shan,
Shatin Plaza in Shatin, AEON Store in Kowloon City and Sincere
Store in Sheung Wan. On the other hand, 4 retail outlets were
closed during the financial year, therefore, the total number of
retail outlets increased from 10 as at 31 March 2014 to 11 as at 31
March 2015. The revenue from the Retail Business decreased from
approximately HK$37.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2014 to
approximately HK$31.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2015,
due to the “Occupy Central” Movement which weakened the
consumer spending in Hong Kong and the winter season in 2014
warmer than usual.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THREWR S

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group's revenue declined slightly from approximately HK$380.4
million for the year ended 31 March 2014 to approximately HK$350.4
million for the year ended 31 March 2015, representing a decrease of
approximately 7.9%. The revenue of OEM Business decreased by
approximately 7.2% to approximately HK$318.8 million for the year
ended 31 March 2015 as compared to the year ended 31 March
2014. On the other hand, the revenue from Retail Business decreased
by approximately 14.8% to approximately HK$31.6 million for the year
ended 31 March 2015 as compared to the year ended 31 March
2014. For the OEM Business, the decrease in revenue was mainly due
to a decrease in pure cashmere products sold by approximately 29.7%
from 552,000 units to 388,000 units for each of the year ended 31
March 2014 and 2015 respectively. For each of the year ended 31
March 2014 and 2015, the Group sold approximately 149,000 units
and 152,000 units from its Retail Business respectively. Although the
Group experienced an increase in units sold from 67,000 units to
85,000 units in summer season when compared with last year, as the
"Occupy Central” Movement weakened consumer spending in Hong
Kong and the winter season in 2014 warmer than usual, the sales in
winter season ,the normal peak season for retail business, decreased
from approximately HK$27.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2014
to HK$21.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2015. Hence, it partially
offset the increase in sales in summer season. The following table sets
forth the breakdowns of the revenue of the Group by segment for
each of the year ended 31 March 2014 and 2015:
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Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLFE

2015 2014
—E—-HF —E—mF
HK$'000 % HK$'000 %
FET B FETT ERnisd
OEM Business R REETE 318,812 91.0 343,387 90.3
Retail Business TEFERK 31,574 9.0 37,058 97
350,386 100.0 380,445 100.0
Cost of Sales and Gross Profit HERAREF

The majority of the Group’s cost of sales was raw material costs.
The Group's cost of sales dropped by 6.9% to approximately
HK$288.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2015 as compared to
the year ended 31 March 2014. The gross profit margin slightly
decreased from approximately 18.6% for the year ended 31 March
2014 to approximately 17.7% for the year ended 31 March 2015.
The gross profit decreased by approximately 12.5% to
approximately HK$62.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2015 as
compared to the year ended 31 March 2014.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THBEMWR S

Expenses

Selling and administrative expenses for the year ended 31 March
2015 were approximately HK$81.1 million (year ended 31 March
2014: approximately HK$61.3 million), representing an increase of
approximately HK$19.8 million. It is mainly due to the Listing
expenses of approximately HK$12.4 million incurred for the year
ended 31 March 2015 (year ended 31 March 2014: nil) and the
increase of employee benefits expenses such as directors’
remuneration and staff salaries and allowances by approximately
HK$6.1 million.

Loss for the year

The loss for the year ended 31 March 2015 was approximately
HK$18.4 million. The profit for the year ended 31 March 2014 was
approximately HK$7.1 million. The loss was mainly due to the
Listing expenses of approximately HK$12.4 million incurred for the
year ended 31 March 2015 (year ended 31 March 2014: nil and the
increase of employee benefits expenses such as Directors’
remuneration and staff salaries and allowances by approximately
HK$6.1 million.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

Historically, the Group has funded the liquidity and capital
requirements primarily through operating cash flows and bank
borrowings. The Group's bank borrowings is primarily for financing
raw materials purchases. As at 31 March 2015, the Group had bank
borrowings of approximately HK$38.6 million (31 March 2014:
HK$67.6 million). The decrease was due to the repayment of tax

loans and trust receipt loans.

As at 31 March 2015, the bank borrowings of the Group were
secured and repayable within one year from the end of the
reporting period based on the scheduled repayment dates set out
in the loan agreements. The fixed rate tax loans carried interest at
4.50% per annum was fully repaid during the year (31 March 2014:
4.50% per annum). The variable rate bank borrowings carried
interests at Hong Kong Best Lending Rate quoted by the lender
plus 1.75% per annum or prevailing interest rate of the lender plus
1% per annum. The ranges of effective interest rates on borrowings
are 4.23% to 6.75% per annum as at 31 March 2015 (31 March 2014:
4.01% to 6.75% per annum).

As at 31 March 2015, the Group had approximately HK$15.8 million
in bank balance and cash (31 March 2014: HK$6.8 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THREWR S

On 10 October 2014, the Company was listed on the GEM of the
Stock Exchange by way of placing and completed the placing of
100,000,000 shares of the Company (the “Shares”) at placing price
of HK$0.6 per share. The actual net proceeds from the issue of new
Shares under the placing were approximately HK$41.5 million. The
Directors believe that with the new capital from the placing of
Shares on the GEM, the Group is in a healthy financial position to
expand its core business and to achieve its business objectives.

Capital Commitments
The Group did not have any significant capital commitments as at
31 March 2015 (31 March 2014: approximately HK$0.2 million).

Future Plan for Material Investments and Capital
Assets

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and this report of the Company,
the Group did not have other plans for material investments and
capital assets.

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 March 2015, the Group's gearing ratio was approximately
30.2% (31 March 2014: approximately 84.7%), based on total debt
of approximately HK$38.8 million and total equity of approximately
HK$128.6 million. The decrease is mainly attributable to the
repayment of bank borrowings and amount due to the Directors,
shareholders and related parties during the year ended 31 March
2015.

Note: Gearing ratio is calculated as the total debt divided by total equity.
Total debt includes bank borrowing, finance lease obligation and

amount due to the Directors, shareholders and related parties.

Charge over Assets of the Group

As at 31 March 2015, the Group had pledged deposits of
approximately HK$6.1 million (31 March 2014: approximately
HK$6.1 million). These deposits were pledged to banks to secure
bank facilities granted to the Group. The Group also had motor
vehicles acquired under finance leases. As at 31 March 2015, the
carrying value of the motor vehicles held under finance leases was
approximately HK$236,000 (31 March 2014: HK$477,000).

Significant Investments, Acquisitions and Disposals
Apart from the reorganization in relation to the listing of the shares
of the Company, there were no significant investments held as at
31 March 2015, nor other material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries and associated companies during the year ended 31
March 2015.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THBEMWR S

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 March 2015, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities (2014: nil).

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group settles the cost of production in Renminbi (“RMB") and
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"”) and most of the sales of the Group are
settled in United States dollars ("US$") and others are denominated
in HK$. Therefore, the Group is exposed to foreign exchange risks
of both US$ and RMB. The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency transactions,
assets and liabilities.

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 March 2015, the Group had a total of 491 employees. The
Group's staff cost for the year ended 31 March 2015 amounted to
approximately HK$68.0 million. The Group's remuneration policies
are in line with the prevailing market practice and are determined
on the basis of performance, qualification and experience of
individual employee. The Group recognises the importance of a
good relationship with its employees. The remuneration payable to
its employees includes salaries and allowance.

In Hong Kong, the Group's employees have participated in the
mandatory provident fund prescribed by the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong).
In the PRC, the Group's employees have participated in various
security insurance including social insurance prescribed by the
Social Insurance Law of PRC ({FE AR EFMEI#H 2R E)), and
housing provident fund prescribed by the Regulations on
Management of Housing Provident Fund (({E AE & E IR IEHI)).

Retirement Benefits Plans
Particulars of retirement benefits plans of the Group as at 31 March
2015 are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

In Hong Kong, the Group participates in the mandatory provident
fund prescribed by the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

Pursuant to the applicable PRC laws and regulations, the Group
participates to contribute to various security insurance including
social insurance and housing provident fund.

No forfeited contributions are available to reduce the contribution

payable by the Group in future years.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EHBETWE S

Comparison of Business Objectives with Actual FEAEHERERERNLER

Business Progress

The following is a comparison of the Group's business plan as set WU TNAXRARBHA-ZT—NFNLA=Z+HNR

I E AR ([ IR ]) PR AN e B B R 1551 8 B A
ZE-RE=A=T-HIEFENERERE

FREVLLE -

out in the Company'’s prospectus dated 30 September 2014 (the
“Prospectus”) with actual business progress for the year ended 31
March 2015.

Business plan as set out in the Prospectus

BIRER SRR E

Progress up to 31 March 2015
BEZ_Z-HF=A=+t—-HWNER

Expansion of the Group's OEM Business
BRASENERBREXY
Purchase of cashmere yarns

BEXHYR

Marketing and promotion activities

mIGHENMEHED

Purchase of new production machineries

BEMOEEKS

Improving water quality systems
WEKE ZEE

Expansion of the Retail Business

BREEXY

Establish new Concession Stores or
Free-Standing Stores

R ZEENEEE

Brand promotional and marketing activities

mIEE E RIS RS

Upgrading ERP system
THREEERRBIZRS

The fund has been used to purchase cashmere yarns for
production.

EeCARNBERREENTFRYR

The Group met OEM customers regularly for exchange of new
ideas in respect of fashion market trend and introducing the
Group's craftsmanship in knitting.

AEBERFDIRRBRERS @ REMSHRRGEH BRI S
AREE R TE

Some funds have been used to maintain the productivity of the
existing machineries. The Group is reviewing the needs and
timeframe for acquiring new production machineries, and is in
the process of determining the specification of and identifying
suitable production machineries.
Fﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁ/‘f’ﬁ—rfﬁﬁ%ﬁ%miﬁﬂ RNEE FE
HENFTELRER  WIEEETE
RAMERS

The Group is assessing the conditions of water quality system and
reviewing the needs and timeframe for the improvement.

REBIEF KB RGN - WiRsT B RKERGNFT R
% o

mEt BT L E
ERETERBORREMEE

Ko B ]

The Group has set up 3 Free-Standing Stores and 2 Concession
Stores during the period. The Group is reviewing the needs and
timeframe for establishing new retail outlets.

ZKEIEAHHW%T“* JEEENMEFEE - NEBE R R
ZEEHNFTERRKHE

The Group has placed various advertisements on buses, magazines
and through television during the period. The Group is planning
to escalate its marketing efforts by continuing existing advertising
activities on a more extensive scale.

FEBRPAEARE - M LERRRESERES - AEET 815
MEMSHENE  BAREESEEEHHRE -

The Group is reviewing the timeframe for upgrading a new ERP
system.

AEBERAAREEERREIZGNREE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THBEMWR S

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
Operational Risk

The Group is exposed to the operational risk in relation to each
business division of the Group. To manage the operational risk, the
management of each business division is responsible for monitoring
the operation and assessing the operational risk of their respective
business divisions. They are responsible for implementing the
Group's risk management policies and procedures and shall report
any irregularities in connection with the operation of the projects to
the Directors and seek directions. The Group emphasises on ethical
value and prevention of fraud and bribery and has established a
whistleblower program, including communication with other
departments and business divisions and units, to report any
irregularities. In this regard, the Directors consider that the Group's

operational risk is effectively mitigated.

Financial Risks
The Group is exposed to the credit risk and liquidity risk.

Credit Risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade
receivables. In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of
the Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In
addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each
individual trade debt at the end of the reporting period to ensure
that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that

the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

Liquidity Risk

The Directors has built an appropriate liquidity risk management
framework to meet the Group’s short, medium and long-term
funding and liquidity management requirements. In management
of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains levels of cash
and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors the utilisation
of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants.
The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant source of
liquidity. In this regard, the Directors consider that the Group's
liquidity risk is effectively managed.

L & A International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2015
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THREWR S

Use of Proceeds from the Placing of Shares

The net proceeds from the listing of the shares of the Company by
way of placing on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (“Placing”) were
approximately HK$41.5 million, which was based on the final
placing price of HK$0.6 per share after deducting the underwriting
commission and actual expenses related to the Placing.
Accordingly, the Group adjusted the use of proceeds in the same

manner and proportion as shown in the Prospectus.

The net proceeds from the Placing from the date of listing, i.e. 10
October 2014 (the "Date of Listing”), to 31 March 2015 had been
applied as follows:

B ERDHAESREMR

7N S M LA L 45 75 18 B A AT AU R b T (TR
&) EARARBAGRBFENRANSE
BAEL NESKESESROOELENRE
HAS KRS RARRAS G EEE - Bt
AN BRI B IR AR R 5 3 R b B S A4S
REAR -

RLEMRSHIFER LM AP (AT —m4F+
A+R - TEHmHERADE_E-—RF=A=+—
BIEMEERDT

Adjusted use
of proceed

Ff

in the same
manner and
proportion
as stated in
prospectus

BERER
Frii RS =X
Rt pIAE
SREAZR

Actual
utilised

Planned
amount
utilised amount
up to

31 March
2015

8=z
—E-hF
=A=t+-—H
2B A
RESH
HK$'000
TAT

up to

31 March
2015

B=
—E-fHEF
=A=+—H
=R
HK$'000
T

HK$'000
TAT

Expansion of the OEM Business ERREHRLEER 26,140 11,301 8,250
Expansion of the Retail Business EBRTEER 11,194 3,260 2,429
General working capital —REEES 4118 4,118 4,118
Total HEt 41,452 18,679 14,797

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 24 June 2015,
the Board has utilised approximately HK$15 million of the net
proceeds from the Placing to lower the interest expense of the
Group. The Directors will constantly evaluate the Group's business
objective and will change or modify plans against the changing
marketing conditions to ascertain the business growth of the
Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THBEMWR S

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Share Subdivision

On 27 March 2015, the Board proposed to subdivide every one (1)
issued and unissued ordinary share of HK$0.10 each in the share
capital of the Company into ten (10) subdivided shares of HK$0.01
each, such that the authorized share capital of the Company is
$100,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000 shares with a par value of
HK$0.01 each. The above share subdivision was approved by the
Company's shareholders for the share subdivision at the
extraordinary general meeting ("EGM") on 20 April 2015 and
became effective on 21 April 2015.

Memorandum of Understanding in Relation to a

Proposed Acquisition

(@ On 17 April 2015, the Company entered into a non-legally
binding memorandum of understanding (the “MOU") with an
independent third party to explore the possibility of
participating in a children’s apparel retail business in the PRC
(the "Proposed Acquisition”). Upon execution of the MOU,
the Company amongst others, will have a legally binding six
months exclusivity to negotiate with the counter party or such
date that the parties may mutually agree, as well as legal
obligations to maintain confidentiality of the Proposed

Acquisition.

(b)  On 29 May 2015, the Company entered into another MOU,
with an independent third party which intends to secure its
globally recognized fashion apparel retail business and
operate its business in multiple cities in the PRC (the
“Proposed Investment”). The Company is interested in
participating in the Proposed Investment and is willing to
explore various opportunities of the Proposed Investment
with the counter party. Upon execution of the MOU, the
Company amongst others, will have a legally binding six
months exclusivity to negotiate with the counter party or such
date that the parties may mutually agree, as well as legal
obligations to maintain confidentiality of the Proposed

Investment.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFERERETHEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yang Wan Ho (BB X %), aged 84, is the founder of the Group.
Mr. Yang was appointed as a Director on 5 June 2014 and was
re-designated as an executive Director and Chairman of the Board
on 25 September 2014. Mr. Yang has over 30 years' experience in
the textile and garment industry and had acquired ample
experience in the operation of knitting manufacturers from various
knitting companies in Hong Kong and South East Asia. Mr. Yang is
responsible for the overall business planning of the Group and
formulation of corporate strategy. From September 1980 to
September 1990, Mr. Yang was employed by a Hong Kong textile
company and had gained relevant industry experience. Mr. Yang
had worked in Top Knitters Limited for almost 10 years since around
1990, and prior to founding the Group in 2001, Mr. Yang was then a
director and general manager of Top Knitters Limited which was

engaged in the manufacturing and trading of knitwear.

Mr. Yang is the father of Mr. Yang Si Hang and Mr. Yang Si Kit
Kenny.

Mr. Yang Si Hang (#51E), aged 53, was appointed as a Director
on 5 June 2014. He was re-designated as an executive Director and
appointed as the chief executive officer on 25 September 2014. Mr.
Yang Si Hang is responsible for supervising and managing the
product design and development capabilities of the Group for both

OEM and retail business segments.

Mr. Yang Si Hang obtained a bachelor degree of science in
electrical engineering from Queen’s University in Canada in May
1985 and has since accumulated about 20 years of experience in
the textile industry. Mr. Yang Si Hang joined the Group in January
2001 and has been responsible for overseeing the production of

the Group.

Mr. Yang Si Hang is the son of Mr. Yang Wan Ho and the brother of
Mr. Yang Si Kit Kenny.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFREREEREE

Mr. Yang Si Kit Kenny (55 #), aged 44, was appointed as a
Director on 5 June 2014. He was re-designated as an executive
Director on 25 September 2014. Mr. Yang Si Kit Kenny is
responsible for supervising the implementation of operation plans
and participating in daily business management and operations of
the Group. He is also responsible for devising and implementing
sales and marketing strategies for both OEM and retail business

segments.

Mr. Yang Si Kit Kenny completed his secondary education in
Canada in June 1989. Mr. Yang Si Kit Kenny worked in a women
apparel wholesaler in Canada as vice president and a director
between August 1992 and April 2000. Mr. Yang Si Kit Kenny joined
the Group in January 2001 and has been responsible for overseeing

the marketing and sales functions of the Group.

Mr. Yang Si Kit Kenny was also a member of the Eleventh Jiangxi
Province Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative

Conference.

Mr. Yang Si Kit Kenny is the son of Mr. Yang Wan Ho and the
brother of Mr. Yang Si Hang.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Rubby Chau (AZE#), aged 59, was appointed as a non-
executive Director on 23 June 2014. Ms. Chau obtained a Bachelor
Degree in Arts from York University, Toronto, Canada in June 1979
and a diploma in Management for Executive Development from

the Chinese University of Hong Kong in August 1981.

Ms. Chau has acquired extensive experience in the field of
merchandising and has been in the industry for more than 25 years.
Ms. Chau was a director of MAX MARK Corporation Limited from
June 2010 to 2015. Prior to that, Ms. Chau was the vice president —
chief marketing officer and general manager at Gloss Mind Apparel
(HK) Ltd from October 2011 to June 2013. In January 1989, Ms.
Chau joined Talbots as merchandise manager and she was
promoted to several positions with her last position at Talbots
being the managing director of Hong Kong, China and Macau
before she left in 2009. Ms. Chau was a merchandise manager at
Shine Master Co., Ltd in 1988. She also worked at Liz Claiborne Int’l
Limited between March 1985 and February 1988 as a merchandiser

and was subsequently promoted to merchandise manager.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFERERETHEERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Chi Keung Alan (FR&38), aged 51, is an independent
non-executive Director. Mr Chan joined the Group on 25
September 2014. Mr Chan is a qualified solicitor admitted in
England & Wales in October 1991 and in Hong Kong SAR in
February 1992. Mr. Chan practiced corporate and commercial law
for more than two decades. Mr. Chan is presently the General
Counsel of Imperial Pacific International (CNMI), LLC, a subsidiary
of Imperial Pacific International Holdings Limited, a company listed
on the main board of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange Limited
(HKSE Stock Code: 1076). Mr. Chan is an independent non-
executive Director of Focus Media Network Limited, a company
listed on the GEM Board of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange
Limited (HKSE Stock Code: 8112); and an independent non-
executive Director of Fortunet e-Commerce Group Limited, a
company listed on the main board of The Hong Kong Stock
Exchange Limited (HKSE Stock Code: 1039).

Previously, Mr. Chan held a number of regional general counsel
roles with large and international corporations, including the Legal
Vice President for NagaCorp Limited, a company listed on the main
board of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange Limited (HKSE Stock
Code: 3918), the Head of Legal Services of The Hong Kong Jockey
Club and the Greater China General Counsel for Sun Microsystems.
Mr. Chan holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Civil Engineering
from the Aston University of Birmingham, England and a LLB in
China Law from the China University of Political Science and Law,
Beijing, PRC.

He is a registered civil celebrant in Hong Kong. Mr. Chan is a
Council Member of the China Overseas Friendship Association,
Beijing, China (FZEG/NEEEIEE), a Committee Member by
Special Appointment of the Eighth Zhuhai Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference (B ¥k /8T &
JVEZBEIFIEZ 8) and a director of the Hong Kong Chiu Chow
Chamber of Commerce Limited.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFREREEREE

Ms. Cheung Marn Kay (E£#), aged 47, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 25 September 2014. Ms.
Cheung is currently the vice chairman of CrossGate Advisors
Limited. Prior to her current role, Ms. Cheung was the managing
director of BlackRock Asset Management North Asia Limited, a
subsidiary of BlackRock, Inc. (NYSE: BLK), from January 1999 to May
2012. Ms. Cheung obtained a Bachelor of Arts degree from the
University of British Columbia in May 1992.

Ms. Cheung is presently a member of the Hong Kong Licensing
Appeals Board, the Hong Kong Housing Authority Appeals Board,
a member of the Citizen Advisory Committee on Community
Relations of the Independent Commission Against Corruption
(ICAC), a council and court member of the Lingnan University, a
member of the Grantham Scholarship Fund Investment Committee
and a member of Hong Kong Agriculture and Fisheries Scholarships
Fund Committee. Previously, Ms. Cheung was a member of the
Advisory Committee of the SFC from June 2011 to May 2013.

Mr. Chan Ming Sun Jonathan (B #542), aged 43 is an independent
non-executive Director appointed by the Group on 25 September
2014. Mr. Chan has over 15 years of experience in direct investment,
management of private equity fund for investing in Chinese
enterprises. Between July 2002 and December 2014, Mr. Chan was
an associate Director of Go-To-Asia Investment Limited. Between
July 2000 and August 2001, he was an investment manager with
Softbank China Venture Investments Limited. Between April 1995
and June 2000, he worked at Ernst & Young in Hong Kong with the
audit and corporate finance department. Mr. Chan obtained a
Bachelor of Commerce degree in Accounting and Information
Systems from the University of New South Wales, Australia in June
1995. Mr. Chan is a fellow of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since January 1999, a member of Certified Practising
Accountants, Australia since February 1995 and a fellow of The

Hong Kong Institute of Directors.
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Mr. Chan is currently the investment manager of Sprint Asset
Management Limited, an independent non-executive Director of
Shenyang Public Utility Holdings Company Limited (stock code:
747) re-appointed in February 2015, Far East Holdings International
Limited (stock code: 36) since November 2014, Hao Tian
Development Group Limited (Stock code: 474) since March 2012
and that of China Dredging Environment Protection Holdings
Limited (Stock code: 871) since November 2012, the securities of
the above companies are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, and of Focus Media Network Limited (stock code: 8112)
since April 2015 and that of Changhong Jiahua Holding Limited
(Stock code: 8016) since February 2007, whose securities are listed
on GEM. Mr. Chan was an independent non-executive Director of (i)
Fintronics Holdings Company Limited (Stock code: 706) between
March 2013 and February 2014; (i) Shenyang Public Utility Holdings
Company Limited (Stock code: 747) between February 2009 and
June 2013; and (jii) Capital VC Limited (Stock code: 2324) between
August 2004 and April 2012, the securities of the above companies
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wong Lok Man (E# ), aged 33, joined the Group on 28
October 2013, and was appointed as the company secretary on 15
July 2014 and as the Chief Financial Officer on 31 October 2014.
Mr. Wong has over nine years of accounting and audit experience
and has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since July 2010. Prior to joining the Group, Mr.
Wong was audit trainee of K. S. Li & Company from August 2005 to
December 2006. From January 2007 to July 2013, Mr. Wong was
employed at Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu with his last position being
audit manager. Currently, he is responsible for reviewing the
Group's financial performance, preparing cost and budgeting. Mr.
Wong obtained a Diploma of Business Administration from Sydney
Institute of Business and Technology in May 2003 and then
obtained a Bachelor of Commerce degree in Accounting from

Macquarie University in July 2005.

f 5 LE BRI /& Sprint Asset Management Limited
WIRBEE AT AFE - ARATEES
NRAZERERRD AR QR (DR : 747) 8958
FRITEZ - WE-_T—NF+—AR - B=F
——HEZREME T —F+— ARDPIEET
ERERBEBEERAE (RHMAIE : 36) - 2XEE
REEER AT (RMOMRR - 474) RP BEERIR
RIZERAER AT (RGOSR 871) B IEBTT
TE - AR BIFEIREB R ER ET - #
B-ZT—RFNARE _TTLF - AEDPIE
£ Focus Media Network Limited ( % 3 X 5% :
8112) R R EEER AR 2 7 (AR 755K -
8016) B IFMITEE - ZERAIEFNAIE
RET -REENR-T—=F=AE-F—N
FZRAREEREERAR QR (RM KR - 706)
MBIFFRTES  (\N_ZETNF_AE-F
—=FAAEAEGARBEERNBRAF (K
RS 747) B FAITES (NN =FF
MENRE_Z-—_FMOARTEHMEARERA
A (R RSE : 2324) B IFRNITE S - Lk
ERAIBHFNRBERFTER 7T ©

EREEBE

FTHR%E 3B RZT—=F+A=+/\H
MARER  RZZT—NF+A+RBAREZTA
NRAMETR _ZE—NFE+A=+—BEZER
WBEeE - TAERBANFEFNGT REZL
B WA -_E-EFLARAREATMEHR
BKE  c RIMAREBE 2R FAER-ZZTH
FNAZZZTEXF+Z APBEMEK S L &
Company IEZABFINE - RZEZT+LF— A
EZT—-FLAHM TAELESIERE
Z) o EMR T FETRITT  REFMBENBIE AR
ZAEIE - BA - RARFNAREOMBERR
RBIKNARIEE - TERER_ST=FHAEB
ZEBERMER THERXE TR TR
FHRAEGEERAREEmE () BLBM0 -

KEEHRIERERDE o 20155 21



BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFREREEREE

Mr. Hon Jing (321E), aged 35, is the IT manager, responsible for
operating and managing all IT services of the Group. Mr. Hon first
joined the Group as technical support engineer from March 2005
and July 2010. Between July 2010 and September 2011, Mr. Hon
was on IT Analyst in the Global Information Solution Department of
Eluomeng Limited. He subsequently re-joined the Group in
November 2013 and is currently the IT manager of the Group. Mr.
Hon completed a diploma course in information technology and
was admitted licentiate member of the Institute for the
Management of Information Systems in February 2001. Mr. Hon
completed secondary education in Hong Kong in 1997. Mr. Hon
has accumulated extension experience in IT support and business

management in various institutions.

Ms. Cheung Hong Yuet Jenny ((RJE1H), aged 46, is the head of
production of the Group and general manager of the Group. Ms.
Cheung joined the Group in January 2010 and has been in charge
of managing and supervising overall production operations from
raw material handling to packaging and delivery in the Group. Ms.
Cheung has accumulated more than 20 years in the production

management experience in the PRC garment industry.

Ms. Guo Li Rong (BEBE), aged 33, is the head of Group's
procurement. Ms. Guo joined the Group in May 2005 and is
primarily responsible for overseeing the import and export of
woolens of the Group, as well as production arrangements. Ms.
Guo obtained a degree in e-commerce from the Open University of
China in the PRC in April 2006.

Ms. Chen Hui Qing (FREJE), aged 44, is the head of the Group's
product quality control and assurance department. Ms. Chen joined
the Group in February 2010 and has been responsible for quality
inspections on work-in-progress and finished products. Ms. Chen
completed her secondary education in the PRC in May 1990 and
has approximately 20 years of quality control and production
management experience from various apparel manufacturers in the
PRC.

Ms. Tian Jia Ling (%), aged 32, is the head of internal control
of the Group. Ms. Tian joined the Group in July 2012 and is
responsible for ensuring the Group's certification compliance,
monitoring the working conditions and implementary work safety
measures at the Group's production facilities. In addition, Ms. Tian
also provides administration support to Group and client
management, Ms. Tian obtained a degree in Business English from

Guangdong Peizheng College in June 2006.

L & A International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2015

22

BIES4E  35m REMBRKEE  BEZRER
ERREENMAEMBRRSE - R_FZ0F
ZRAE-ZT-FFLH BRERVIINAREHE
BRERMXETREM R-T-FTFLAE_F
——F A  BBELEER Eluomeng Limited 8 2Bk
EEBRT RMPIBEEAR DA - KPER
RE-ZB—=F+—REHMALREE  BERIR/R
SENEAR AR  BAEFFEMBEX
B WR_TEE—F_ARRARENEEES
XSS -R—ANtF BREEFTETK
hEHE c BEEERSETRRBEZEZE
SRS S R RSB IR

RERLL - 4657 BAKEEEZERAEH
BT s R TR - E—TE— ANAKE
CBAEEEREEASENRRMEEE 0%
RRNMHEREESE - kT RPERET
F¥ERBBOFNEEERLR -

EEE!Z:t ' 335K RAKERBIE - Frt
\CEERFRAAMAREE  TEBEEEAR
Im%iﬁ%iﬁﬁjﬂ&iﬁiw o B EER

ERFOAEBTEPREZERAEHES

i 8

E

BREEBZL @ 45k RAKENERESES KL
REHPIEE - RELRZZE—ZTF_AMNAR
S8 - WEETHAREKRNEERE R
TR -ANEFRAEFETHETEHE - I
KB ERERERME RO 20FNE 25 H &
HEBERIER -

HERLZL 325 RASEREHESLE - [

TEMN-ZB-——FEAMALREER  BELXEE
MERER  BEAEELEREN TIEGHRNR

TELR2RBENER - W BRI AREER
RHTBEZERETEFPER HAXTHRZZE
NENAEBERE SRS REEN -



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESTHE

The Directors present to the shareholders this annual report and
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March 2015 (the “Year").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal business activity of the Company is investment
holding. The principal activities and other particulars of the
Company’s subsidiary are set out in notes 1 and 36 to the

consolidated financial statement in this annual report.

There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group's

activities during the Year.

RESULTS
The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on

page 50 of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the Year (2014: nil).

There is no arrangement that a shareholder of the Company has

waived or agreed to waive any dividend.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND CLOSURE OF
THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The forthcoming annual general meeting (“AGM") of the Company
will be held on 30 July 2015 (Thursday) at Flat 1, Block C, 11/F,
Hong Kong Spinner Industrial Building, Phase 5, 762 Cheung Sha
Wan Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong. For the determining entitlement
to attend the forthcoming AGM, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from 29 July 2015 (Wednesday) to 30 July
2015 (Thursday), both day inclusive, during which period no transfer
of Shares will be registered. The record date will be 30 July 2015
(Thursday). In order to qualify for attending the forthcoming AGM,
all transfer of Shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates
and transfer forms must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Boardroom Share Registrars (HK)
Limited at 31/F, 148 Electric Road, North Point, Hong Kong before
4:30 p.m. on 28 July 2015 (Tuesday).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 15 to the consolidated

financial statements in this annual report.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets, liabilities of the Group for the
last three financial years, as extracted from the audited
consolidated financial statements in this annual report and the
Prospectus is set out on page 136. This summary does not form
part of the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual

report.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the Company’s paid up capital for the Year are set out in
note 27 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual

report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association or the laws of Cayman Islands
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata

basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

There were no purchases, sales or redemptions of the Company’s
listed securities by the Company or any of its subsidiaries from the
listing of the Company on the GEM Board of the Stock Exchange
on 10 October 2014 (the "Date of Listing”) to the end of the Year.

TRANSFER TO RESERVES

Loss attributable to equity shareholders, before dividends, of
approximately HK$18.4 million has been transferred to reserves.
Other movements in reserves are set out in the consolidated

statement of changes in equity on page 53 of this annual report.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS, DISPOSALS AND
SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

Apart from the reorganization in relation to the listing of the shares
of the Company, during the Year, there was no material acquisition,

disposal or investment by the Group.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Sales to the Group's five largest customers accounted for
approximately 87.8% of the total sales for the Year and sales to the
largest customer included therein accounted for approximately
70.0% of the total sales for the Year. Purchase from the Group's five
largest suppliers accounted for approximately 83.9% of the total
purchase for the Year and purchase from the Group largest supplier
included therein accounted for approximately 30.3% of the total
purchase for the Year.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
material beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers
and suppliers.

DIRECTORS

As at the date of this report, the Directors are:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Yang Wan Ho (Chairman)
(appointed on 25 September 2014) (note)
Mr. Yang Si Hang (Chief executive officer)
(appointed on 25 September 2014) (note)
Mr. Yang Si Kit Kenny (appointed on 25 September 2014) (note)

Non-executive Director:
Ms. Rubby Chau (appointed on 23 June 2014)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Chan Chi Keung Alan (appointed on 25 September 2014)
Ms. Cheung Marn Kay (appointed on 25 September 2014)

Mr. Chan Ming Sun Jonathan (appointed on 25 September 2014)

By virtue of Article 16.2 of the articles of association of the
Company, Ms. Rubby Chau, Mr. Chan Chi Keung Alan, Ms. Cheung
Marn Kay and Mr. Chan Ming Sun Jonathan will retire at the
forthcoming AGM and, all being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-election at the said meeting.

By virtue of Article 16.18 of the articles of association of the
Company, Mr. Yang Si Kit Kenny will retire at the forthcoming AGM
and, being eligible, will offer himself for re-election at the said
meeting.

Note: Each of Mr. Yang Wan Ho, Mr. Yang Si Hang and Mr. Yang Si Kit
Kenny was appointed as Director on 5 June 2014 and re-designated
as executive Director on 25 September 2014. Mr. Yang Si Hang re-
designated as chief executive officer on 25 September 2014.

FEERRHtERS
AEERAARFEPHHEREAFERHEERD
87.8% ' HRBREAKAEFHNHEEREARNFER
HARSHERRA)70.0% « AEBE R AR EEAER
BRELAFENBRBELNS%  HPEER
AEBERAHERNRBEGEAFEARBERY
30.3% °

EEIRFEMETHBREAREMRREES
P AR N A R B B ITACANER B 5% ) BL BN A &
BRAAFPRMHEATHEEEMNEAE @RS

EE
RAFHREY EER

BITES:

BXREE(EE)
(R=F—WENA=+ 7 AREE)(HiE)

B ELE (EEHITE)
(R=F—WFENA =+ ARSI (HiE)

B (R F—WENA =+ A AEE(E)
(Wit

FHUTES !
AEBL L (R=F—WFEAA =+ = ARE(E)

BMFATES:

REBREE(R-F—FAA—+LAEZE)
SEHLZ T (R_F-MFANA-THAAEZ(ET)
R LE (R-F—FAA T HHEZET)

REBEARREBERMAANE 6216 BAEEZ
T BRERELE  BSHZ T RRELFEEHR
ERRBFRGRE  REHTREBNIER
REARE EEEEF -

RIBEAQXRAMEIZMANE 16181 HEFEE
AR EERRBERSRE  MRAERKEE
TRZAE LEBEE -

ffet - BXREL  BREEERGFRELESER S
E-MENADREZERES YN _F—N
FAA-THAREANTES - BFERER
“E-NFAA-TAHBERBRERTE °

STERRIERERAT o 2015F K

25



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHE

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

Each of the Directors has entered into a service contract or an
appointment letter (as the case may be) with the Company for an
initial term of three years commencing from 10 October 2014 which
may only be terminated in accordance with the provision of the
service contract or appointment letter (as the case may be) or by (i)
the Company giving to any Director not less than three months’
prior notice in writing or (ii) any Director giving to the Company not

less than one month’s prior notice in writing.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has
a service contract or any appointment letter (as the case may be)
with the Company which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than

statutory compensation.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of Directors and senior management are
disclosed in the section headed “Biographies of Directors and

Senior Management” on pages 17 to 22 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS' REMUNERATION
Details of the Directors Emoluments and the five individuals with
the highest emoluments are set out in note 12 to the consolidated

financial statements in this annual report.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS IN CONTRACTS

Apart from the contracts relating to the reorganisation in relation to
the listing of the shares of the Company and save as disclosed in
this annual report, no contracts of significance to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,

subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.

Apart from the contract relating to the reorganisation in relation to the
listing of the shares of the Company, no contract of significance has
been entered into during the Year between the Company or any of its

subsidiaries and the controlling shareholders or any its subsidiaries.

No contract of significance for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries by the controlling shareholder of

the Company or any of its subsidiaries was entered into.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company

were entered into or existed during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Year, none of the Directors or any their respective
associates has any interest in a business which competes or likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the

Group.

DISTRIBUTION RESERVES

As at 31 March 2015, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution represent the share premium, and retained profit and
the aggregate amount of reserves available for distribution to
equity shareholders of the Company amounted to approximately
HK$74.1 million.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the Year are set out in note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement changes in

equity respectively.

INTERESTS OF THE COMPLIANCE ADVISER

As confirmed by the Group's compliance adviser, TC Capital Asia
Limited (the “compliance adviser”), save as the compliance adviser
also acted as the sponsor and one of the joint bookrunners and one
of the joint lead managers in relation to the listing of shares and
compliance adviser agreement entered into between the Company
and the compliance adviser dated 17 July 2014, none of the
compliance adviser or its directors, employees or close associates
(as defined under the GEM Listing Rules) had any interest in the
Group or in the share capital of any member of the Group which is
required to be notified to the Company pursuant to Rule 6A.32 of
the GEM Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITION IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

The Company’s shares were listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange on 10 October 2014. As at 31 March 2015, the interest
and short position of the Directors and chief executive of the
Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")), (i) as
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and/or short positions which they are taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO), or (ii) as required to be
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, or (iii) as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of
dealings by directors of the Company as referred to in Rule 5.46 of

the GEM Listing Rules were as follows:

Ordinary Shares of the Company

Name of Director/
chief executive

Capacity/Nature of Interest

EE TETBRAESHSA 55 RHEEE

Mr. Yang Wan Ho (“Mr. Yang")?
BXEEE((HrRE)?

Founder and beneficiary of
a discretionary trust
PREFAIZAZRZRA

Beneficiary of trust
;u{'_«/\}\

Mr. Yang Si Hang®
HREEED

Mr. Yang Si Kit Kenny®
BEsa L

Beneficiary of trust
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Percentage of
the Company's

Number of issue share
Underlying capital as at
Shares!” 31 March 2015
—E-—HEF

=H=+—H

HARQAT BT

HERERAER M BABEDE
300,000,000 75%
300,000,000 75%
300,000,000 75%
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Notes:
(O] All interest stated are long positions.

2) YWH Investment Holding Limited (“YWH"), a company wholly owned
by the Yang's Family Trust, directly holds the entire issued share
capital of Yang's Holdings Capital Limited (“Yang's Holdings”). The
Yang's Family Trust is a discretionary trust established by Mr. Yang (as
the settlor) and the discretionary beneficiaries of which include Mr.
Yang, Mr. Yang Si Hang, Ms. Yang Sze Man Salina and Mr. Yang Si Kit
Kenny. Accordingly, Mr. Yang is deemed to be interested in the
300,000,000 Shares held by Yang's Holdings.

(3) Mr. Yang Si Hang, an executive Director and chief executive officer of
the Company, is one of the beneficiaries of the Yang's Family Trust.
He is therefore deemed to be interested in the 300,000,000 Shares
indirectly held by Yang's Holdings.

4) Mr. Yang Si Kit Kenny, an executive Director, is one of the
beneficiaries of the Yang's Family Trust. He is therefore deemed to
be interested in the 300,000,000 Shares indirectly held by Yang's
Holdings.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2015, none of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company had any interests or short
position in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO (i) as required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests and/or short positions which they are
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or (ii)
as required to be recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or (iii) as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the required standard of dealings by Directors of the

Company as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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FBIBEE  BRHELEE BT RIGFHEE
Ao AL - 5 EERR AR Yang's Holdings BT
575 ) 300,000,000 AR5 H 5 e i -

(B) ARFARTEFHFERATELFEXRERGR
REERANRRAZ — Bt WERAR
Yang's Holdings [l # %5 /& #9 300,000,000 % i 15
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

The Company’s shares were listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange on 10 October 2014. As at 31 March 2015, the following
persons (other than a Directors or chief executive of the Company)
had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares
of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or
as required to be recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 336 of the SFO:

Ordinary Shares of the Company

Name of Shareholder

Capacity/Nature of Interest

BRREEEB

Trustee of trust

BEREXFEA

Cantrust (Far East) Limited®

YWH®
R EE R

Beneficial owner

EmEAA

Yang's Holdings®@

Ms. Leung Shui Yee®
Rinla £ ©

Interest of spouse

fofB g

Ms. Chan Lo Mei®
PREEZE L L@

Interest of spouse

FoiBtE s

Interest in a controlled corporation

FERFERAMALTRAELTEGRHE

B FHERRRE
ARABAR =B —MF+ A+ BB AAA%
REM - R-F—RFZA=+—H  UTFAL

(EFRARAEETHA BRI RAR TR
BARBRMR 5 oh IR KB 5 B M S I 25 XV BB 2
35 E T A BB B AR - BB R IR
BHREGDIE B AT B ERMA RS
HRARMT :

RRAEBR

al

Percentage of
the Company's

Number of issue share
Underlying capital as at
Shares!" 31 March 2015
R-B—AEF

=R=+—H

HARQT B BT

HER MR O BAEDE
300,000,000 75%
300,000,000 75%
300,000,000 75%
300,000,000 75%
300,000,000 75%
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Notes:
(O] All interest stated are long positions.

2) Cantrust (Far East) Limited, the trustee of the Yang's Family Trust,
holds the entire issued share capital of YWH. YWH, in turn, holds the
entire issued share capital of Yang's Holdings. The Yang's Family
Trust is a discretionary trust established by Mr. Yang (as the settlor)
and the discretionary beneficiaries of which include Mr. Yang, Mr.
Yang Si Hang, Ms. Yang Sze Man Salina and Mr. Yang Si Kit Kenny.
Accordingly, each of Mr. Yang, Cantrust (Far East) Limited and YWH
is deemed to be interested in the 300,000,000 Shares held by Yang's
Holdings.

(3) Ms. Leung Shui Yee is the spouse of Mr. Yang Si Hang. By virtue of
the SFO, Ms. Leung Shui Yee is deemed to be interested in the same
number of Shares in which Mr. Yang Si Hang is deemed to be
interested.

4) Ms. Chan Lo Mei is the spouse of Mr. Yang Si Kit Kenny. By virtue of
the SFO, Ms. Chan Lo Mei is deemed to be interested in the same
number of Shares in which Mr. Yang Si Kit Kenny is deemed to be
interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2015, the Company has
not been notified by any person (other than the Directors or the
chief executive of the Company) who had, or was deemed to have,
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the
Stock Exchange under provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO or were required to be recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed under the paragraph headed "Directors’
and chief executives’ interests and short positions in shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporations” above, and “Share Option Scheme”
below, at no time during the Year was the Company, its holding
company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors or the chief executive of the
Company or their associates to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other

body corporate.

() FITEIHESERTAE -

2 % K K i% 12 5t B & 5% A Cantrust (Far East)
Limited #578 YWH 2 5B #47AR A « YWH RIS A
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2015, there were no connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions of the Company
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules which are required to
comply with any of the reporting, announcement or independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under the GEM Listing Rules.
Details of significant related party transactions undertaken in the
usual course of business are set out in note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements. None of these related party transactions
constitute a discloseable connected transaction as defined under
the GEM Listing Rules.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) on 25 September 2014. The following is a summary of the

principal terms and conditions of the Share Option Scheme.

1. Purpose
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Company to grant options to selected participants as

incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Company.

2. Participants
The Directors may, at their absolute discretion, invite any
person who contributes to the development and growth of
the Group, grant any employee or proposed employee (full-
time or part-time), Director, consultant or adviser of or to the
Group, or any supplier, customer, or any person or entity that
provides research, development or other technological
support or any shareholder of the Company or any

shareholder of any of the Company’s subsidiaries.

3. Maximum Number of Shares
The maximum number of Shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme shall not in
aggregate exceed 10% of all the Shares in issue as at the
Date of Listing (i.e. a total of 400,000,000 Shares representing
10% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date
of this report).
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Maximum Entitlement of Each Participant and
Connected Persons

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Company (including both exercised and outstanding options)
to each participant in any 12-month period must not exceed

1% of the Shares in issue.

Minimum Period of Holding an Option and
Performance Target

The Director may, at their absolute discretion, fix any
minimum period for which an option must be held, any
performance targets that must be achieved and any other
conditions that must be fulfilled before the options can be

exercised upon the grant of an option to a participant.

Subscription Price for Shares

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any option
granted under the Share Option Scheme, subject to any
adjustments made in accordance with the Share Option
Scheme, shall be such price as the Board in its absolute
discretion shall determine, provided that such price shall not
be less than the highest of (i) the average closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet for the five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant of the option (which must be a business day);
and (ii) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the
option (which must be a business day). A consideration of
HK$1.00 is payable on acceptance of the offer of the grant of

an option.

Rights are Personal to Grantee
An option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall not
be transferable or assignable and is personal to grantee.

Time of Exercise of Option
An option may be accepted by a participant within 28 days
from the date of the offer of grant of the option.

4.
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9. Period of the Share Option Scheme
Unless terminated by the Company by resolution in general
meeting, the Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of 10 years commencing on the date on

which the Share Option Scheme becomes unconditional.

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme up to the date of
this report, no share options have been granted pursuant to the

Share Option Scheme.

There is no option outstanding, granted, cancelled and lapsed

during the Year.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2015, the Group employed approximately 491 full-
time staff. The Directors and senior management receive
compensation in the form of fees, salaries, allowances, benefits in
kind and/or discretionary bonuses relating to our performance.
When reviewing and determining the specific remuneration
package for the executive Directors and senior management, the
Company takes into consideration factors such as among other
things, market level of salaries paid by comparable companies, the
respective responsibilities of the Directors and the performance of

the Group.

The Group's remuneration to employees includes salaries,
contribution to pension schemes and discretionary performance

bonuses.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance

Report” on pages 37 to 47 of this annual report.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group had made charitable and other
donation for approximately HK$565,000 (2014: approximately
HK$549,000).

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM
Listing Rules and considers that all the independent non-executive

Directors are independent to the Company.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company had
maintained sufficient public float during the Year and up to the

date of this annual report as required under the GEM Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu has acted as auditors of the
Company for the Year. The Company has not changed its external
auditors during the Year and up to the date of this report.

Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu will retire and being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM. A
resolution for the re-appointment of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as
auditors of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming
AGM.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Share Subdivision

On 27 March 2015, the Board proposed to subdivide every one (1)
issued and unissued ordinary share of HK$0.10 each in the share
capital of the Company into ten (10) subdivided shares of HK$0.01
each, such that the authorized share capital of the Company is
$100,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000 shares with a par value of
HK$0.01 each. The above share subdivision was approved by the
Company's shareholders for the share subdivision at the
extraordinary general meeting ("EGM") on 20 April 2015 and
became effective on 21 April 2015.

Memorandum of Understanding in Relation to a

Proposed Acquisition

(@ On 17 April 2015, the Company entered into a non-legally
binding memorandum of understanding (the “MOU") with an
independent third party to explore the possibility of
participating in a children’s apparel retail business in the PRC
(the “Proposed Acquisition”). Upon execution of the MOU,
the Company amongst others, will have a legally binding six
months exclusivity to negotiate with the counter party or such
date that the parties may mutually agree, as well as legal
obligations to maintain confidentiality of the Proposed

Acquisition.
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(b)  On 29 May 2015, the Company entered into another MOU,
with an independent third party which intends to secure its
globally recognized fashion apparel retail business and
operate its business in multiple cities in the PRC (the
"Proposed Investment”). The Company is interested in
participating in the Proposed Investment and is willing to
explore various opportunities of the Proposed Investment
with the counter party. Upon execution of the MOU, the
Company amongst others, will have a legally binding six
months exclusivity to negotiate with the counter party or such
date that the parties may mutually agree, as well as legal
obligations to maintain confidentiality of the Proposed

Investment.

By Order of the Board
Yang Wan Ho

Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 June 2015
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group's corporate governance practices are based on the
principles and the code provisions in the Corporate Governance
Code (the "Code"”) as set out in Appendix 15 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth Enterprise
Market ("GEM") of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”).

During the period from the date of listing, i.e. 10 October 2014 (the
"Date of Listing”) to 31 March 2015, the Company has complied
with all the applicable code provisions of the Code contained in
Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under the code provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the
Chairman and the chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. Since 25
September 2014, Mr. Yang Wan Ho is the Chairman who provides
leadership to the Board. Mr. Yang Si Hang was appointed as the
chief executive officer of the Company and his role is to oversee
the general management and daily operations of the Group.

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND RETIREMENT
OF THE DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Article 16.18 of the articles of association of the
Company, at every annual general meeting of the Company one-
third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not
three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to, but not
less than, one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term)
shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years. A retiring Director shall retain office until the close of the
meeting at which he retires and shall be eligible for re-election
thereat. The Company at any annual general meeting at which any
Directors retire may fill the vacated office by electing a like number
of persons to be Directors.

DIRECTORS SERVICE CONTRACTS AND
APPOINTMENT LETTERS

Each of the Directors has entered into a service contract or an
appointment letter (as the case may be) with the Company for an
initial term of three years commencing from 10 October 2014 which
may only be terminated in accordance with the provision of the
service contract or appointment letter (as the case may be) or by (i)
the Company giving to any Director not less than three months’
prior notice in writing or (i) any Director giving to the Company not
less than one month’s prior notice in writing.
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No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has
a service contract or any appointment letter (as the case may be)
with the Company which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than

statutory compensation.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Group has adopted the required standard of dealing, as set
out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as the code of
conduct for securities transactions by the Directors in respect of the
share of the Company. Upon specific enquiry, all Directors have
confirmed that they have complied with the required standard of
dealing and the code of conduct of securities transactions by
Directors from the Date of Listing to 31 March 2015.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board comprised three executive Directors, one non-executive
Director and three independent non-executive Directors as at the

date of this report, details of which are set out below:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Yang Wan Ho (Chairman)

Mr. Yang Si Hang (Chief executive officer)
Mr. Yang Si Kit Kenny

Non-executive Director:
Ms. Rubby Chau

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Chan Chi Keung Alan

Ms. Cheung Marn Kay

Mr. Chan Ming Sun Jonathan

The brief biographic details of the Directors are set out in the

section headed "Biographies of Directors and Senior

Management” on pages 17 to 22 of this annual report.
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FUNCTIONS OF THE BOARD

The board supervises the management of the business and affairs
of the Company. The Board's primary duty is to ensure the viability
of the Company and to ensure that it is managed in the best
interests of the shareholders while taking into account the interests
of other stakeholders. The Group has adopted internal guidelines
in setting forth matters that require the Board's approval. Apart
from its statutory responsibilities, the Board approves the Group's
strategic plan, key operational initiatives, major investments and
funding decisions. It also reviews the Group's financial
performance, identifies principal risks of the Group's business and
ensures implementation of appropriate systems to manage these
risks. Daily business operations and administrative functions of the

Group are delegated to the management.

The Board is also delegated with corporate governance functions
under code provision D.3.1 of the Code. The Board has reviewed
and discussed the corporate governance policy of the Group and is

satisfied with the effectiveness of the corporate governance policy.

BOARD MEETING AND PROCEDURES

Board members were provided with complete, adequate and
timely information to allow them to fulfill their duties properly. In
compliance with code provision A.1.3 of the Code, at least 14 days’
notice has been given for a regular Board meeting to give all
Directors an opportunity to attend. Notice, agenda and board
papers of regular Board meetings are sent to all Directors with
reasonable time and at least 3 days prior to the meetings. Directors
are free to contribute and share their views at meetings and major
decisions will only be taken after deliberation at Board meetings.
Directors who are considered to have conflict of interests or
material interests in the proposed transactions or issues to be
discussed will not be counted in the quorum of meeting and will
abstain from voting on the relevant resolutions. Full minutes are
prepared after the meetings and the draft minutes are sent to all
Directors for their comments on the final version of which are

endorsed in the subsequent Board meeting.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for an initial term of three years

commencing from the Date of Listing.

Each of the non-executive Director and independent non-executive
Directors has entered into a letter of appointment for an initial term

of three years commencing from the Date of Listing.
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Every Director is subject to re-election on retirement by rotation in

accordance with the articles of association of the Company.

Details of the attendance of the Board meetings, audit committee
(the “Audit Committee”) meeting, remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) meeting, nomination committee (the
“"Nomination Committee”) meeting, legal compliance committee
(the "Legal Compliance Committee”) meeting and general meeting
of the Company held from the Date of Listing to 31 March 2015 are

summarized as follows:

Audit
Board  Committee
meeting meeting
ENZEE
34 EE
Executive Directors BIES
Mr. Yang Wan Ho BXREE 474 N/A
Mr. Yang Si Hang U E A 4/4 N/A
Mr. Yang Si Kit Kenny BRREEE 4/4 N/A
Non-executive Director FUTES
Ms. Rubby Chau BERat 4/4 N/A
Independent non-executive Directors ~ BUFHTES
Mr. Chan Chi Keung Alan RERLE 4/4 1N
Ms. Cheung Marn Kay EL3i L 4/4 171
Mr. Chan Ming Sun Jonathan RELEHE 44 11

N/A: Not applicable 1~ F

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established specific committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Legal Compliance Committee, with written
terms of reference which are available for viewing on the website of
the Company to assist them in efficient implementation of their
functions. Specific responsibilities have been delegated to the

above committees.
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Legal

Remuneration ~ Nomination

Compliance

Committee Committee Committee General

meeting
¥MZEE
LE

meeting
REZEE
LE

meeting
ERERER
ges

meeting

RRAE

N/A N/A N/A N/A
N/A N/A N/A N/A
N/A N/A n N/A
N/A N/A N/A N/A
N/A N/A n N/A
N/A N/A N/A N/A
N/A N/A n N/A
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FMERE  REZEEN zt\&/\%ﬁé\a *ﬁ‘
Eﬁé,\amiﬁﬂﬁw 0 [B] 70 AN 2 7] 48 0 A 414 B

CABBRUETTE TR . £al 2%@%&‘%%
i%ﬁﬁ&o

L & A International Holdings Limited ® Annual Report 2015

40



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERELIWE

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee on 25 September
2014 with written terms of reference which are in compliance with
the code provision of the Code. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are to make recommendations to the Board on
appointment or reappointment and removal of external auditor;
review financial statements of the Company and judgments in
respect of financial reporting; and oversee internal control
procedures of the Company. The Audit Committee consists of
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Ming
Sun Jonathan (Chairman), Mr. Chan Chi Keung Alan and Ms.
Cheung Marn Kay.

From the Date of Listing to the date of this annual report, the Audit
Committee had reviewed the interim results of the Group for the
six months ended 30 September 2014, quarterly result of the Group
for the nine months ended 31 December 2014. The Audit
Committee had reviewed the Group's internal controls for the Year.
The Group's results for the Year had been reviewed by the Audit
Committee before submission to the Board for approval. The Audit
Committee had also reviewed this annual report, and confirmed
that this annual report complies with the GEM Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee held 1 meeting from the Date of Listing to 31
March 2015. Details of the attendance of the Audit Committee at

the Audit Committee meeting are set out above.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 25
September 2014 with written terms of reference which are in
compliance with the code provision of the Code. The primary
duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration policy
and structure relating to all Directors and senior management of
the Group and ensure that none of the Directors determine their
own remuneration. The Remuneration Committee consists of three
members, namely Mr. Chan Chi Keung Alan (Chairman), Mr. Yang
Si Kit Kenny and Ms. Cheung Marn Kay.

No Remuneration Committee meeting was held from the Date of
Listing to 31 March 2015.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 25
September 2014 with written terms of reference which are in
compliance with the code provision of the Code. The primary
duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the structure,
size and composition of the Board annually; identify individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members; assess the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors; and
make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating
to appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for the Directors. The Nomination Committee consists of
three members, namely Ms. Cheung Marn Kay (Chairman), Mr.
Yang Si Hang and Mr. Chan Chi Keung Alan.

No Nomination Committee meeting was held from the Date of
Listing to 31 March 2015.

LEGAL COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

The Company established the Legal Compliance Committee in
September 2014 with the terms of reference. The primary duties of
the Legal Compliance Committee are to review the effectiveness of
the Group's regulatory compliance procedures and system; advise
the Audit Committee in overseeing the Group’s corporate
governance functions; promptly report to the Audit Committee for
any actual or suspected non-compliance issues; and review the
effectiveness of the internal control measures adopted by the Audit
Committee and provides updates on the applicable laws related to

the business of the Group from time to time.

The Legal Compliance Committee consists of 4 members, namely
Mr. Yang Si Kit Kenny (Chairman), Mr. Chan Chi Keung Alan, Mr.
Chan Ming Sun Jonathan, and Mr. Wong Lok Man, the Company
Secretary and Chief Financial Officer of the Company.

The Legal Compliance Committee held 1 meeting from the Date of
Listing to 31 March 2015. Details of the attendance of the Legal
Compliance Committee at the Legal Compliance Committee

meeting are set out above.
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DIVERSITY OF THE BOARD

The Group has adopted policy in relation to the diversity of the
members of the Board and the summary of the policy is as follows:

(1) selection of Board members will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, which would include but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and education background, professional

experience, skills, knowledge and length of service; and

(2)  the Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation
of the diversity policy from time to time to ensure the

effectiveness of the diversity policy.

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE
DIRECTORS

In compliance with the code provision A.6.5 of the Code, all
Directors had participated in continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. The
Directors had provided the relevant record to the Company for the

Year.

The Company is committed in arranging and funding suitable
training to all Directors for their continuous professional
development. Each Director is briefed and updated from time to
time to ensure that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities
under the GEM Listing Rules and applicable legal and regulatory
requirements and the governance policies of the Group. All the
Directors also understand the importance of continuous
professional development and are committed to participate in any

suitable training to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Board had appointed Mr. Wong Lok Man as Company
Secretary and an authorised representative of the Company on 15
July 2014. Mr. Wong is also the Chief Financial Officer of the Group
and a member of the Legal Compliance Committee of the

Company.
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All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary. The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman on
board governance matters, and is responsible for ensuring that
board procedures are followed and facilitating communications

among Directors as well as with Shareholders and management.

The Company Secretary’s biographies are set out in the section
headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” of this

annual report.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION

The Senior Management's remuneration payment of the Group in

the Year falls within the following band:

2REFHABIRANENERLRRY - A7
WEMTFERCEERAEE LAEHRES
SOEREF  UWRiEEESZ B REERRK
REEREZHNEE -

)

ARAMEREIRNAFRIEFTLSMELER
EE] —#f -

= 4R T
AEERAFENGRERBHFMSBNFUAT
#E

Number of

Individuals

A

HK$1,000,000 or below 1,000,000 7T A T 5
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 %72 1,500,000 7 7T 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 & 7T £ 2,000,000 % 7T 2

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for each financial
period to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Group and of the results and cash flows for that period in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong. The statement by auditors of the Company about their
responsibilities for the financial statements is set out in the
independent auditors’ report contained in this annual report. The
Directors have adopted the going concern approach in preparing
the consolidated financial statements and are not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Company'’s ability to continue as a going

concern.
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

The Company engaged Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as its
external auditors for the Year. There is no disagreement between
the Board and the Audit Committee on the selection, appointment,
resignation or dismissal of the external auditors. During the Year,
the fee paid of payable to Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu in
respect of its statutory audit services provided to the Group was
HK$1,200,000. Fees for non-audit services for the same period were
HK$3,621,000, consisting of services provided in connection with

the listing of the shares of the Company and interim review.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for ensuring the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control system. The internal control systems are
designed to meet the Group's particular needs and the risks to

which they are exposed.

Procedures have been set up for safeguarding assets against
unauthorised use or disposition, controlling over capital
expenditure, maintaining proper accounting records and ensuring
the reliability of financial information used for business and
publication. Qualified management of the Group maintains and
monitors the internal control systems on an ongoing basis. The
Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the internal
control system of the Group and is satisfied that the Group has fully
complied with the Code in respect of internal controls from the
Date of Listing to 31 March 2015.

GENERAL MEETING WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Since the Date of Listing and up to the date of this annual report,
the Company held an extraordinary general meeting on 20 April
2015.

Save as disclosed above, no general meeting had been held and
the Company’s forthcoming annual general meeting will be held on
30 July 2015.
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THE SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS TO CONVENE AN
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the articles of association of the
Company, extraordinary general meetings shall be convened on
the written requisition of two or more shareholders’ holding, at the
date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at
general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the
Board or the Company Secretary of the Company for the purpose
of requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. Such meeting shall be held within 3 months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the

requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

In order to keep shareholders well informed of the business
activities and direction of the Group, information about the Group
has been provided to the shareholders through financial reports
and announcements. The Company has established its own
corporate website (www.Ina.com.hk) as a channel to facilitate
effective communication with its shareholders and the public. The
Company will continue to enhance communications and
relationships with its shareholders and investors. A shareholders
communication policy was adopted on 10 October 2014 to comply
with code provision E.1.4 of the Code.

Shareholders, investors and interested parties can make
enquiries directly to the Company through the following e-mail:

info@lna.com.hk

PROCEDURES FOR DIRECTING SHAREHOLDERS'
ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD
Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to

the Board in writing. Contact details are as follows:

L & A International Holdings Limited

Address: Flat 1, Block C, 11/F, Hong Kong Spinner Industrial
Building, Phase 5, 762 Cheung Sha Wan Road, Kowloon, Hong
Kong

Tel: 3793 9000

Fax: 3793 9002

E-mail: info@Ina.com.hk
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Shareholders’ enquiries and concerns will be forwarded to the
Board and/or relevant Board Committees of the Company, where

appropriate, to answer the shareholders’ questions.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS AT GENERAL MEETINGS BY
SHAREHOLDERS

Pursuant to Article 16.4 of the articles of association of the
Company, no person (other than a retiring Director) shall be eligible
for election to the office of Director at any general meeting unless
a notice in writing of the intention to propose that person for
election as a Director and notice in writing by that person of his
willingness to be elected shall have been given to the Company
Secretary no earlier than the day after the dispatch of the notice of
the general meeting appointed for such election and end no later
than 7 days prior to the date of such general meeting and the
minimum length of the period during which such notices to the
Company may be given will be at least 7 days. The procedures for
Shareholders to propose a person for election as a Director is

posted on the website of the Company.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

There had been no significant changes in the constitutional
documents of the Company from the Date of Listing to 31 March
2015.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
B3 BB 2R F

TO THE MEMBERS OF L & A INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of L & A
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 50 to 135,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 March 2015, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended 31 March 2015, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors of the
Company determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of
engagement and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material

misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated

financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 March
2015, and of its loss and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and
have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

24 June 2015
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GeRRAMZENKRE

(For the year ended 31 March 2015)
(BE-_Z—RF=ZA=1+—HLLEFE)

2015 2014
“E-EF —E-mEF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Revenue W25 1e) 350,386 380,445
Cost of sales SHEK AR 11 (288,296) (309,522)
Gross profit ESVY 62,090 70,923
Other income NN 7 6,147 4,570
Other gains and losses Hhlias K B 1R 8 596 851
Selling and distribution expenses SHE R iR X (18,004) (21,002)
Administrative expenses THEX (50,768) (40,272)
Listing expenses Baliil=ha (12,371) -
Finance costs B TS AZR 9 (4,135) (3,958)
Fair value change in structured bank deposit &1 R1T1F
YNSRIt 10 (455)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—FEMB AR - 815
(Loss) profit before taxation A E (E8R) S (16,435) 11,472
Income tax expense FrS BB X 10 (1,956) (4,419)
(Loss) profit for the year FR(E518) & F 11 (18,391) 7,053
Other comprehensive income Hit 2wk
Item that may be reclassified subsequently —~ H7&rJgEE# 748
to profit or loss FEmAEA
Exchange differences arising on MEBINETGEE
translation of foreign operations RIME 5 =58 (429) 669
Total comprehensive (expense) income Frzem (X)) WaesE
for the year (18,820) 7,722
(Loss) earnings per share S (E518) & F)
Basic (HK cents) EAR () 14 (0.53) 0.24

50 L & A International Holdings Limited ® Annual Report 2015



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
meMEkAR

(At 31 March 2015)

(R=Z2-—HF=A=+-8)

2015 2014
—E-AHE —E—JUF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
iz FTHET THET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Mm% - BB MEE 15 45,232 53,080
Investment property LEYE 16 3,240 3,349
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, W - BE &
plant and equipment HEOENETS - 281
Prepaid lease payments TBRHEERIE 17 4,253 4,400
Rental deposits HE®RE 820 1,422
Structured bank deposits B MIRITIE R 21 = 8,389
Deferred tax assets ELERBEE 26 628 883
54,173 71,804
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 18 84,482 83,008
Trade and other receivables B 5 & H th FEIRIE 19 20,347 23,456
Prepaid lease payments TBREERIE 17 112 113
Amount due from immediate JEW B B 1R A RIFRIA
holding company 20 - 9,669
Amount due from a controlling shareholder  fEU§ — 5515 I % 58 7008 20 - 19,722
Amounts due from related parties JE Y BE 28 5 BB 20 - 627
Amounts due from directors JE UL E EFR0E 20 - 2,332
Tax recoverable BEELE 959 3,080
Investments held for trading HIEEBERE = 365
Structured bank deposits EEIERITER 21 8,399 -
Pledged bank deposits BEEARITER 21 6,055 6,055
Bank balances and cash RITRBRRE 21 15,808 6,787
136,162 155,214
CURRENT LIABILITIES nBAE
Trade payables B 5 RUA 22 6,463 6,336
Others payables and accrued expenses Hap R IE R ERHX 22 14,798 18,437
Amount due to a controlling shareholder FE{S — B3R AR B A 23 - 5,030
Amounts due to related parties FERAE S 2l 23 - 17,503
Amounts due to directors JERFEERIE 23 = 787
Tax payables FERTBEIE 1,505 2,053
Obligations under finance leases BMEHERED 24 82 425
Bank borrowings RITIEE 25 38,635 67,599
61,483 118,170
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
SaMBRlE

(At 31 March 2015)

(RZZB—RE=A=+—H)

2015 2014
—E-RF —E—F
Notes HK$’'000 HK$'000
e+ FHET THETT
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEZRE 74,679 37,044
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEAERRBES
LIABILITIES 128,852 108,848
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Obligations under finance leases REMEER
— due after one year — R—F1& R 24 126 415
Deferred tax liabilities ELERBEE 26 109 102
235 517
NET ASSETS EEFE 128,617 108,331
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXRRE
Share capital A& A 27 40,000 110
Reserves s 88,617 108,221
TOTAL EQUITY B 128,617 108,331

The consolidated financial statements on pages 50 to 135 were 502 F 135 BNBRAMBHREN T —AEFX
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 24 A=+ IMBESZE & REETIE - WHNUT

June 2015 and are signed on its behalf by: EERREE
Yang Wan Ho Yang Si Hang
BXR o E ]
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EF BF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
ReERERR

(For the year ended 31 March 2015)
(BE-_Z—RF=ZA=1+—HLEE)

Share Share  Translation Special Other Retained
capital premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total
R R EE EXRE KRl HitfdfE REEA @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TR TER TET TET TET
(Note (i) (Note (ii)) (Note (iii))
/ ) ] i) )
At 1 April 2013 RZE-=§NA—-H 110 38,321 8,687 - 4,321 49,164 100,609
Exchange differences arising A& EHK
on the translation of EEMERZE
foreign operations - - 669 - - - 669
Profit for the year FRRF - - - - - 7,053 7,053
Total comprehensive income N2 EWRFEEH
for the year - - 669 - - 7,053 1,122
At 31 March 2014 RZZ-MF
=A=1+-H 110 38,321 9,356 - 4,327 56,217 108,331
Exchange differences arising &G/ EREE
on the translation of HELER
foreign operations - - (429) - - - (429)
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - (18,391) (18,391)
Total comprehensive BREERTAE
expense for the year - - (429) - - (18,391) (18,820)
Dividend declared (Note 13)  BEIRIE (A5 13) - - - - - (14,717) (14,717)
Transfer upon a group SEEARER
reorganisation (110) (38,321) - 38,431 - - -
Issue of ordinary shares of the  BIEEHE(TAAT]
Company pursuant to L
a reorganisation 10,000 - - (10,000) - - -
Placing of shares (Note 27(v) ~ EBE&RIR (M7t 27() 10,000 50,000 - - = = 60,000
Capitalisation issue (Note 27(vi)) AL 3T
(BzE27(v)) 20,000 (20,000) - - - - -
Transaction costs attributable ~ #{TRHEER 5
to issue of shares AR = (6,177) = = = = (6,177)
At 31 March 2015 R-Z—-hE
=ZA=1+-H 40,000 23,823 8,927 28,431 4,327 23,109 128,617
Notes: Bist -

—E—=FNA-—HBERZZE—NFMNA—BHK
177 {B48 L & A Interholdings Inc. BUR% (A& (B ©

(i) Share premium as at 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014 represented the ()
share premium of L & A Interholdings Inc..

FRIFEEIE L & A Interholdings Inc. Z IR 2R & i&
RENEEEARNRRBEESHMEITRA
EEZ BHZERE o FHEENME 276v)

(ii) Special reserve represented the difference between the nominal (i)
amount of the share capital and share premium of L & A Interholdings
Inc. and the nominal amount of the share capital issued by the
Company pursuant to a group reorganisation. Details of which are set
out in note 27(iv).

(i) EiREEELESARA - BERERRBEFE

(i) Other reserve arose from the waiver of loan from a controlling
shareholder of the Company in previous years.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FeEReRE

(For the year ended 31 March 2015)
(BE-_Z—RF=ZA=1+—HLLEFE)

2015 2014
—E-RHE —T-mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KR ED
(Loss) profit before tax B AT (E518) 5 F) (16,435) 11,472
Adjustments for: BMTHIEREITHE
Depreciation of property, plant and YE - BEMREINE
equipment 9,121 9,709
Depreciation of investment property WEYENE 81 81
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments AR E B 113 13
Finance costs B IDWIN 4,135 3,958
Bank interest income RATHBUA (6) 8
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE —EE R AR - (815)
Gain on disposal of property, plant HEWE - BE REBO K
and equipment (525) -
(Gain) loss on fair value changes in EBUERTERNATFEEZS
structured bank deposit (Yezs) E51R (10) 455
(Gain) loss on fair value changes of HIEEBERENATEES)
investments held for trading (Yezk) Ei8 (60) 53
Allowance of inventories FERE 425 1,350
Operating cash flows before movements EEETEYPFINLERTRE
in working capital (3,161) 26,368
Increase in inventories FEEIN (1,899) (33,173)
Decrease (increase) in trade and B 5 R EA U IR R A (35 00)
other receivables 3,109 (1,931)
Decrease (increase) in investments BEEFIRERD (EN)
held for trading 425 (418)
Increase (decrease) in trade payables 2 S e ERIE i Grid) 127 (7,033)
(Decrease) increase in other payables and  Efth e 508 & EEHBIs2 CRls>)
accrued expenses bl (3,639) 3,512
Decrease (increase) in rental deposit MEZER (M) 602 (410)
Cash generated used in operations LEFTARE (4,436) (13,085)
Income tax refund REIFTISH 3,121 -
Income tax paid BEATFTISH (3,147) (12,667)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING L EEFAR S T8
ACTIVITIES (4,462) (25,752)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FEReRE

(For the year ended 31 March 2015)
(BE-_Z—RF=ZA=1+—HLEE)

2015 2014
—E-AF —E-mEF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
TR T FHBT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES WEEE
Advances to directors MIEERR (9,869) (2,056)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment B EW% - KE &R (1,541) (2,028)
Advances to immediate holding company  EEEIERA TIE K (931) -
Placement of structured bank deposit FIAEREIERITER = (8,844)
Advance to related parties A B - (1,078)
Deposit paid for acquisition of property, WEEME « BE MREHENILS
plant and equipment - (281)
Advances to a controlling shareholder M — BRI R E S - (52)
Placement of pledged bank deposits R EEIRRITIE = (46)
Repayment from a controlling shareholder ~ —Z1ER IR ERER 19,722 6,604
Repayment from directors FEEN 12,201 13,722
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE  BEMRENAERE
plant and equipment 823 59
Repayment from related parties B R 627 2,860
Interest received B UHE 6 8
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits RRBE PRI TR - 8,874
Repayment from ultimate holding company &&= A RIE R = 5,985
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary & — B A R FT S I8 = 830
NET CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES & ES15H S FE 21,038 24,557
FINANCING ACTIVITIES A& EED
Repayment of bank borrowings BRBITEE (297,859) (261,831)
Repayment to related parties [AIREE B (17,503) (8,412)
Repayment to directors MEREN (7,261) (21,108)
Transaction cost attributable to BITIRID BV 5 KA
issuance of shares (6,177) -
Repayment to a controlling shareholder A — ZIERR IR BE R (5,030) (7,211)
Interest paid BEAFLE (4,135) (3,958)
Dividend paid BEATARE (4,117) -
Repayment of obligations under EERMEMSEES
finance leases (632) (438)
New bank borrowings raised HiERITIEE 268,895 297,663
Proceeds from issuance of shares BTN TS FA 60,000 -
Advance from directors REEZEZENBR 6,474 786
Advance from a controlling shareholder RE—RIERR IR AR - 1,993
Advance from related parties KRB BE R B - 697
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING REEEFTAR S T8
ACTIVITIES (7,345) (1,819)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FeEReRE

(For the year ended 31 March 2015)
(BE-_Z—RF=ZA=1+—HLLEFE)

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND IR & MIReSEYIE N G2 ) F58

2015
—E-AHF

HK$'000
THET

2014
—F—mF
HK$'000
FBT

CASH EQUIVALENTS 9,231 (3,014)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FENReRBEEED

BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 6,787 9,970
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE SNEIERFEH T E

CHANGES (210) (169)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FREEIRESEEY

AT END OF THE YEAR, I RPITHERLE D

represented by bank balances and cash 15,808 6,787
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R MEERE

(For the year ended 31 March 2015)
(BE-Z—RF=ZA=1+—HLLEFE)

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION AND BASIS OF
PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability on 5 June 2014. The
Company's shares have been listed on the Growth Enterprise
Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) with effect from 10 October 2014. Its
immediate holding company is Yang's Holdings Capital
Limited, a private limited company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands and its ultimate holding company is YWH
Investment Holding Limited, a private limited company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. Its ultimate
controlling shareholder is Mr. Yang Wan Ho, who is also the
Chairman and director of the Company. The addresses of the
registered office and the principal place of business of the
Company are P.O. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman,
KY-1104 Cayman Islands and Flat 1, Block C, 11/F, Hong Kong
Spinner Industrial Building, Phase 5, 762 Cheung Sha Wan

Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong, respectively.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group
is principally engaged in the manufacturing, sales and

retailing of garment products.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is different from the functional
currency of the Company, United States dollars (“US$"). The
directors of the Company consider that presenting the
consolidated financial statements in HK$ is preferable when
controlling and monitoring the performance and financial

position of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SeMBRERME

(For the year ended 31 March 2015)
(BE-_Z—RF=ZA=1+—HLLEFE)

2.

58

GROUP REORGANISATION AND BASIS OF
PREPARATION

The companies now comprising the Group underwent a
series of reorganisation. Prior to 1 April 2013, Sino Shine
Retailing Limited was 51% owned by Able Rich Management
Limited and 49% owned by Yang's Holdings Capital Limited,
the immediate holding company of the Company. Both Able
Rich Management Limited and Yang's Holdings Capital
Limited were wholly-owned by Mr. Yang Wan Ho, the
controlling shareholder of the Company. On 1 April 2013, L &
A Interholdings Inc. entered into a share transfer agreement
to acquire the entire issued share capital of Able Rich
Management Limited at a consideration of US$1. On 16 July
2013, Able Rich Management Limited entered into an
agreement with Yang's Holdings Capital Limited to acquire
49% equity interest of Sino Shine Retailing Limited at a
consideration of HK$490,000. Sino Shine Retailing Limited
then became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Able Rich
Management Limited. The consideration was settled by the
assignment of the amount due from Yang's Holdings Capital
Limited in the books of Sino Shine Retailing Limited to Able
Rich Management Limited.

Pursuant to the group reorganisation, which was completed
by interspersing the Company between Yang's Holdings
Capital Limited and L & A Interholdings Inc., the Company
became the holding company of the companies now
comprising the Group on 18 September 2014. The Group
comprising the Company and its subsidiaries resulting from

the group reorganisation is regarded as a continuing entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
meMERRME

(For the year ended 31 March 2015)
(BE-Z—RF=ZA=1+—HLLEFE)

2.

GROUP REORGANISATION AND BASIS OF
PREPARATION (Continued)

Accordingly, the consolidated statements of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statements of
changes in equity and consolidated statements of cash flows
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2015 and 2014
have been prepared to present the results and cash flows of
the companies now comprising the Group, as if the group
structure upon the completion of the group reorganisation
had been in existence throughout the year ended 31 March
2015 and 2014. The consolidated statement of financial
position of the Group as at 31 March 2014 has been prepared
to present the assets and liabilities of the companies now
comprising the Group as if the current group structure had

been in existence at that date.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs")

Application of amendments to HKFRSs and an
interpretation

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs and an interpretation to issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") for the first time in the current year:

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27

Investment Entities

Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and

Financial Liabilities

Amendments to HKAS 36 Recoverable Amount Disclosures for
Non-Financial Assets
Amendments to HKAS 39 Novation of Derivatives and
Continuation of Hedge Accounting
HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs and an
interpretation in the current year has had no material impact
on the Group's financial performance and positions for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in

these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBERRME

(For the year ended 31 March 2015)
(BE-_Z—RF=ZA=1+—HLLEFE)

3.

60

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

("HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and

revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments'
HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts?
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers®
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure initiative®
Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in
Joint Operations®
Amendments to HKAS 16 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of
and HKAS 38 Depreciation and Amortisation®
Amendments to HKAS 16 Agriculture: Bearer Plants®
and HKAS 41
Amendments to HKAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee
Contributions*
Amendments to HKAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Statements®

Applying the consolidation Exception®

Sale or Contribution of Assets between

an Investor and its Associate or Joint

Venture®
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2010-2012 Cycle®
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2011-2013 Cycle
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2012-2014 Cycle?®

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2018, with earlier application permitted.

2 Effective for first annual HKFRS financial statements beginning
on or after 1 January 2016, with earlier application permitted.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2017, with earlier application permitted.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014,
with earlier application permitted.

> Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2016, with earlier application permitted.

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014,

with limited exceptions. Earlier application is permitted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R MEERE

(For the year ended 31 March 2015)

(BE—Z2—

3.

AFE=A=t—HILLFE)

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 2 “Financial Instruments”

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduced new requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial assets. HKFRS 9
was subsequently amended in 2010 to include requirements
for the classification and measurement of financial liabilities
and for derecognition, and further amended in 2013 to
include the new requirements for general hedge accounting.
Another revised version of HKFRS 9 was issued in 2014 mainly
to include (a) impairment requirements for financial assets
and (b) limited amendments to the classification and
measurement requirements by introducing a ‘fair value
(FVTOCI)

measurement category for certain simple debt instruments.

through other comprehensive income’

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 are described below:

o All recognized financial assets that are within the scope
of HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement” are subsequently measured at amortised
cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are
held within a business model whose objective is to
collect the contractual cash flows, and that have
contractual cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal outstanding are
generally measured at amortised cost at the end of
subsequent accounting periods. Debt instruments that
are held within a business model whose objective is
achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and
selling financial assets, and that have contractual terms
of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding, are measured at
FVTOCI. All other debt investments and equity
investments are measured at their fair value at the end
of subsequent accounting periods. In addition, under
HKFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable election to
present subsequent changes in the fair value of an
equity investment (that is not held for trading) in other
comprehensive income, with only dividend income

generally recognized in profit or loss.
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62

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (Continued)

° In relation to the impairment of financial assets, HKFRS
9 requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed
to an incurred credit loss model under HKAS 39. The
expected credit loss model requires an entity to account
for expected credit losses and changes in those
expected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In other
words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to

have occurred before credit losses are recognized.

The directors of the Company are currently assessing the
impact which the application of HKFRS 9 in the future may
have on the amounts reported in respect of the Group's

financial assets and financial liabilities.

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers”

In July 2014, HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single
comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will
supersede the current revenue recognition guidance
including HKAS 18 “Revenue”, HKAS 11 “Construction
Contracts” and the related interpretations when it becomes

effective.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers” (Continued)

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should
recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods
or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the

standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue

recognition:

° Step 1. Identify the contract(s) with a customer

o Step 2. ldentify the performance obligations in the
contract

° Step 3:  Determine the transaction price

° Step4: Allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract

° Step 5:  Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity

satisfies a performance obligation

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognizes revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control’ of the
goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more
prescriptive guidance has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal
with specific scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are
required by HKFRS 15.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of HKFRS 15 in the future may have an impact on the amounts
reported and disclosures made in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements. However, it is not practicable to provide
a reasonable estimate of the effect of HKFRS 15 until the
Group performs a detailed review.
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64

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock
Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
that measured at fair values at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.
Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the

consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristic of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in the consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope
of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that
are within the scope of HKAS 17 “Leases”, and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value,
such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value

in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purpose, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as

follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity

can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies adopted are as follows:

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved

when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and
o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassess whether or not it controls an investee if

facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to

one or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the

subsidiary.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies

into line with the Group's accounting policies.
All intra group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses

and cash flows relating to transactions between members of

the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Merger accounting for business combination
involving entities under common control

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements items of the combining entities or
businesses in which the common control combination occurs
as if they had been combined from the earliest date

presented.

The net assets of the combining entities or businesses are
consolidated using the existing book values from the
controlling party’s perspective. No amount is recognised in
respect of goodwill or excess of acquirer’s interest in the net
fair value of acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities over cost at the time of common control
combination, to the extent of the continuation of the

controlling party's interest.

The consolidated statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income include the results of each of the
combining entities or businesses from the earliest date
presented, regardless of the date of the common control

combination.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial
statements are presented as if the entities or businesses had

been combined at the end of the previous reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods sold in the normal course of business, net of discounts

and sales related taxes.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the
goods are delivered and titles have passed, at which time all

the following conditions are satisfied:

o the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant

risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

o the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with

ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;
. the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

o it is probable that the economic benefits associated

with the transaction will flow to the Group; and

o the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the

transaction can be measured reliably.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group
and the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest
income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the
principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial

recognition.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as

operating leases.

The Group as lessor
Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant

lease.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of
the Group at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if
lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments.
The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the
consolidated statements of financial position as a finance

lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses
and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability. Finance expenses are recognised immediately in
profit or loss, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying
assets, in which case they are capitalised in accordance with
the Group's general policy on borrowing costs (see the

accounting policy below).

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in
which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are
recognised as an expense in the period in which they are

incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Prepaid lease payments

Interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in
the consolidated statements of financial position and is

amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at
the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are

not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in

profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's entities
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e.
Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the

heading of translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group's entire interest in a foreign operation), all of the
exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company are

reclassified to profit or loss.

On disposal of a group entity that is not a foreign operation,
the exchange differences accumulated in equity relating to
translation of assets and liabilities of that group entity into
presentation currency of the Group are transferred to retained
profits.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted

from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in

the year in which they are incurred.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before taxation” as
reported in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income because of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting

period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the

accounting profit.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the

foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be

available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and

liabilities.
Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and PRC
state-managed retirement benefits schemes are charged as
an expense when employees have rendered service entitling

them to the contributions.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on weighted
average cost method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs

of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation. Investment properties include land
held for undetermined future use, which is regarded as held

for capital appreciation purpose.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised so as to write
off the cost of investment properties over their estimated
useful lives and after taking into account of their estimated

residual value, using the straight-line method.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from
use and no future economic benefits are expected from its
disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is

derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for
use in the production or supply of goods, or for administrative
purposes (other than construction in progress as described
below) are stated in the consolidated statements of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation

and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Construction in progress including property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any
recognised impairment loss. Costs include professional fees
and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in
accordance with the Group's accounting policy. Such
properties are classified to the appropriate categories of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready
for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets

are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment (other than construction in
progress) less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any

changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their
expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets.
However, when there is no reasonable certainty that
ownership will be obtained by the end of the lease term,
assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and

their useful lives.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying

amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R MEERE
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4.

AFE=A=t—HILLFE)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of

the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are mainly classified into financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL") and loans and
receivables. The classification depends on the nature and
purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time
of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the

marketplace.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the

net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for

debt instruments.

Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets at FVTPL comprise of investments held for
trading or it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of

selling in the near future; or

o on initial recognition, it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term

profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a

hedging instrument.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL (Continued)

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading
may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

° such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

° the financial asset forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in
accordance with the Group's documented risk
management or investment strategy, and information
about the grouping is provided internally on that basis;
or

° it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement permits the
entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be
designated as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any
gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in profit
or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
excludes any dividend or interests earned on the financial
assets.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and
receivables (including trade and other receivables, amount(s)
due from immediate holding company/a controlling
shareholder/related parties/directors, pledged bank deposits
and bank balances and cash) are measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less any identified
impairment losses (see accounting policy on impairment loss
on financial assets below).

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate, except for short-term receivables where the
recognition of interest would be immaterial.

FEEHBE @)

SWMI A

TREEE)
BAFHEGTABZNEHEE (B)
ERMEE(KIFEENSREERI) TR
THIERTRT ERRIEERRATE
AR -

o RERHBAAED TR R
SHE SRS ERT B0 5

e ZEREERK-HATMEEXDH
BEREREERERAGBEAN—
BB MARBA SR B S E R E IR
SR E KRR - ZREENEERRSE
TIARFEBEMETTE - BHR
DHEMER T B E R A AR
"

. HEKBEES - ERZERARNTEL
BEREHmn—Es - MBS 4R
FHREMITAE: BRKTEAF
BEEEEEHN(EERAR)ERT
BN FEABERE -

BAVEFAEEZEMEERATET
fr MAENTEEE ZEMEERER
RIBmER - RBERRBZFRAEXER
TeEEEREERNZ EMBREHAE

EMREKRE

BN R WK IR T FE P R e T A T B
Wk i R B ISRE 2 FITESRE
B o RYIRHERE - BERMEWFA (B
BohEMBNRTE  BEERERA
B/ —RERERES S EETR
EHERRITERANBRITHEBRIRS) 191
B R )80 LA 2 5 A HORLAE ) 2 38R RL
EERIK(ATXERSREERERRE
ZEEIE) -

MBWATHERERA KR - HERERF
BRE TG REUFIRRIN

KEEHRIERERDE o 20155 77



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SeMBRERME

(For the year ended 31 March 2015)
(BE-_Z—RF=ZA=1+—HLLEFE)

4.

78

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for
indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period.
Financial assets are considered to be impaired where there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been
affected.

Objective evidence of impairment of financial assets could

include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or

counterparty; or

. breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in

interest or principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
receivables that are assessed not to be impaired individually
are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis.
Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of
receivables could include the Group's past experience of
collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed
payments in the portfolio past the respective credit period,
observable changes in national or local economic conditions

that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of
the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset's

original effective interest rate.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in
the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised
in profit or loss. When a trade receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are

credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the
investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the

impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified either as financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an

equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are

recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

FEEHBE @)

cof - m=Ne )

SRMEE &)

EREERE(E)
EEEEEBERREBRATIRE &
BEEZREAENEHLREE (ZHEK
FOER N 2 EIEREEEEIE o BEEX
CHRAEEHNERER - 2B HEK
HIERS A ESERER - &R R -
iR E 2 S AT AR S A B2 o

NEHER AL ENEREE  WNEEER
HIMBERERERY  MABRESE
tEBERREERREEZEMHHR A
SRR REBBNBERED - EZKR
BERRERRE R ZREETSEBMNE
HERRIBUE < B SRR

TREERKRETAR
—HREBEBETNEBRBEATATIR
BANZEEALZHRERAGRRATA
ZEENBREBMBBEIAR -

RETA
BRATANEBEEENREMBAEBZH
BESERAZEMEL - RARRETZR’
ARIATDNRBWIAMERENREEET
PR ANHERR o

KEEHRIERERDE o 20155 79



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SeMBRERME

(For the year ended 31 March 2015)
(BE-_Z—RF=ZA=1+—HLLEFE)

4.

80

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables,
amount(s) due to related parties/a controlling shareholder/
directors and bank borrowings) are subsequently measured at

amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments (including all fees paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter

period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Derecognition

The Group derecognised a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the assets expire or,
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the

risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration

received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognised financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liabilities derecognised and the consideration paid

and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment losses

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual
cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the
smallest group of cash-generating units for which a

reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have

not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised

immediately in profit or loss.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which
are described in note 4, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual

results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current

and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and

liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated allowance for inventories

Management of the Group reviews its inventories at the end
of the reporting period and makes allowance for obsolete
and slow-moving inventory items identified that are no longer
suitable for use in production. Management estimates the net
realisable value for such items primarily based on the latest
invoice prices and current market conditions. The Group
carries out an inventory review by making use of the aging
analysis at the end of the reporting period and make
allowance for obsolete items. As at 31 March 2015, the
carrying amounts of inventories are approximately
HK$84,482,000 (net of allowance for inventories of
approximately HK$425,000) (2014: HK$83,008,000 (net of
allowance for inventories of approximately HK$1,350,000)).
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5.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimated impairment of trade receivables
When there is objective evidence of impairment loss, the
Group takes into consideration the estimated future cash
flows. The amount of the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future
credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). Where
the actual future cash flows are less than expected, a material
impairment loss may arise. As at 31 March 2015, the carrying
amount of trade receivables is approximately HK$13,247,000
(2014: HK$19,315,000). No impairment loss on trade
receivables was recognised during the reporting period (2014:
Nil).

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group's operating segments are determined based on
information reported to the chief operating decision maker of
the Group (the executive directors of the Company who are
also directors of certain major operating subsidiaries), for the
purpose of resource allocation and performance assessment.
These executive directors regularly review revenue and results
analysis by (i) OEM Business and (ii) Retail Business. No
analysis of segment assets or segment liabilities is presented
as such information is not regularly provided to these

executive directors.

(i) OEM Business: manufacturing and sales of OEM

garment products.

(i) Retail Business: retailing of garment products under the

Group's own brand.
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FEBMAFARRBECRE - BEBENR
BORBEEEREELEGHRARASRE
(TEERREENAREEER) ReR
BEMRERMN X (AR ERE ARG
HOERMX) MR NREZBOHERE
HoMERRERRSREENTAL - B
ARELABNREBE R-_T—HF=
A=1—8 " B5RUFBENKREENS
13,247,000 7T ( =& — PO 4F : 19,315,000
BTL) - RIS HIRE - WEE 5 EUKRIA
HERBEBR(ZF—MF : &) -

K@k S EREE
AEBENZEDMORBAREETZLE
BREE(RARBNTES  BEN/ET
IBELEMBRARNES)ERN LK
AFEMERNERNEE - ZFNTESF
BRORREBREE  ROTEXBHEH
ERREREEDN - HRRFHTES
ANEERRHDFFEER D BRENER
B WEFNBREOAN

() FRRERERE: REXHEEREKE
BUEIRFEM -

(il ZTEER EAREEARETEE
AREEEE an
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. KBRABEHE &)
(Continued)
Segment revenue and results DEbU S R EE
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results T RAREEREES TR DA E
by operating segments. B -
For the year ended 31 March 2015 BE—Z-—RnF=ZHA=+—HILFE

OEM Retail Segment
Business Business total Eliminations Total

REXK  FTEXK  oBAE B ast
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T TET TET TET

Revenue U zs

External sales HONEE 318,812 31,574 350,386 - 350,386

Inter-segment sales* DESEEE 12,799 - 12,799 (12,799) -
Total segment revenue 185 ER U 25 331,611 31,574 363,185 (12,799) 350,386
Results o

Segment results DEEE 4,501 (4,978) (477) = (477)
Corporate expenses PERT (6,205)
Finance costs B Ak R (4,135)
Other income and gains H A Rz 6,753
Listing expenses i=0ilih3 (12,371)
Loss before taxation B RER (16,435)
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. BERSWBEH 2
(Continued)
Segment revenue and results (Continued) DERE R RE ()
For the year ended 31 March 2014 BE—Z-—MFE=ZF=+—HILFE

OEM REET Segment

Business Business total Eliminations Total

R

REEl  TELEE  HBE 134 et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET  TET  TER  TER AR

Revenue W25

External sales YTHNgEE 343,387 37,058 380,445 - 380,445

Inter-segment sales* D ERfESHE * 15,225 - 15,225 (15,225) -
Total segment revenue @y E e 358,612 37,058 395,670 (15,225) 380,445
Results ES

Segment results DEBELE 11,286 (324) 14,296 - 10,962
Corporate expenses ERY (1,328)
Finance costs BAFB AR AN (3,958)
Otherincome and gains  EH AU A R Uzs 4,981
Gain on disposal of HE B AR

a subsidiary ol 815
Profit before taxation & B AE 11,472
* Inter-segment revenue is charged at prevailing market rates. * D ERRUN IR IR TS BRALE o
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the MIES MBS 4TI A EE
same as the Group's accounting policies described in note 4. M@ ERR - DMEEIERSDIFME
Segment results represents loss incurred or profit earned AR ETEEA SR B ko iR E A
from each segment without allocation of other income and WA R b2EY - HE—HHBA
gains, corporate expenses, gain on disposal of a subsidiary, T « BRI A TEEED) -
fair value change in structured bank deposit, listing expenses TR RBMERA - A AEEEE
and finance costs. This is the measure reported to the chief gEEssh st 2 DR AR R ERIE N
operating decision maker of the Group for the purpose of HEHE o

resource allocation and performance assessment.
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. KWBRAWEH 2
(Continued)
Other segment information Hitbn H &R
Year ended 31 March 2015 BE—_ZT-AF=A=1+—HILFE

OEM Retail Segment
Business Business total Total

REXE FEXK  IHMAS #st
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
TR TR FTEx THER

Amounts included in the SEDEREERETA

measure of segment results: H& %

Depreciation of property, plant  #72 - BB LR EITE

and equipment 8,345 776 9,121 9,121
Depreciation of an investment  —IBREYERE
property 81 - 81 81
Release of prepaid lease FEERTA T AE & FRIE
payments 113 - 113 113
Gain on disposal of property, HEME - BEMRE
plant and equipment AUk =5 525 - 525 525
Allowance for inventories FERE 425 - 425 425
Additions to non-current assets RNEIERBNE E 1,195 627 1,822 1,822
Year ended 31 March 2014 HE—Z-—MFE=ZA=+—HILFE
OEM Retail
Business Business
JR&
SUERTE TEXRK ; #ET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T BT T
Amounts included in the FIEOMEERTA
measure of segment results: Enfert: i
Depreciation of property, ME - RENREITE
plant and equipment 9,068 641 9,709 9,709
Depreciation of an investment  —IBIREWENE
property 81 - 81 81
Release of prepaid lease RIS RIA
payments 113 - 113 13
Deposit paid for acquisition of  WEEME - ME K& E
property, plant and equipment KB E] & 281 - 281 281
Allowance for inventories FEREE 1,350 - 1,350 1,350
Additions to non-current assets RNEIERENEE 3,409 535 3,944 3,944
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. KBRABEH &)
(Continued)
Geographical information wEE R

AEBENEBLEUNETE  ENBAR
B([XE]) - B &R -

The Group's operations are located in Hong Kong, the United
States of America ("USA"), Europe and the PRC.

ERAREEKRBINDELH KT ERBE
BEPMEM(TE RS mARIE) AT

Information about the Group’s revenue from external

customers is presented based on the geographical location

of the customers, irrespective of the origin of the goods, is

detailed below:

2015 2014

—F-hHF —T-0F

HK$’'000 HK$'000

TExT FETT

USA EH 307,240 315,840
Hong Kong B 34,429 42,942
Europe BOM 3,084 17,868
Others Hib 5,633 3,795
350,386 380,445

Information about the Group’s non-current assets (excluding

deferred tax assets and structured bank deposit) is presented

based on the geographical location of the assets is detailed

below:

ERARBIRDEE (TREREREER
EREBERITER) NERRIEEERR
DA -

2015 2014

—E-AEF —ZE U

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHBR FET

PRC =8 38,338 40,414
Hong Kong &8 15,207 22,118
53,545 62,532
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. BERRSWBEH 2
(Continued)
Information about major customers FEEFESR
Revenue from customers of corresponding years contributing HEFERBEPEAEEKZEBEIRB10%
over 10% of the Group's revenue are as follows: ol &Ry UNNE

2015 2014
—E—FF —F-HF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHR F
Customer A’ BEA 242,103 275,987
Customer B’ ZFEB 36,373 Note Hi5E
! Revenue from OEM Business ! KB RFEREEBRRA
Note: The revenue from Customer B for the year ended 31 March Wit HEZZ—NE=A=1+T—HBIEFEKE
2014 did not contribute over 10% of the Group's revenue. BEFBMKEEANEE W ZETBIR10% ©
7. OTHER INCOME 7. HMkA
2015 2014
—E—FEF —EF-NNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fia Fi5e
Claim received from customers for MEFPEUHFT BN RE
cancelled orders 5,338 3,234
Rental income HEUA 362 493
Bank interest income HRITH B UA 6 8
Others Hib 441 835

6,147 4,570
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8. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 8. HfkSREIR
2015 2014
—F-I% —T—mF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
TH T T
Gain on disposal of property, HEME - BE KR
plant and equipment ol e 525 -
Change in fair value of investments FEEBEREN D FESE
held for trading 60 (53)
Others HAh 11 904
596 851
9. FINANCE COSTS 9. BBEF
2015 2014
—E-AF —TmF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT THBT
Interest on: THIFEHE
Bank borrowings wholly repayable AREFRNEHEED
within five years RITEE 3,915 3,526
Obligations under finance leases MEREEL 40 43
Amounts due to related parties JET B 7 E 151 360
Amount due to a controlling shareholder e — BRI AR R KA 29 29

4,135 3,958
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. FREMBEX

2015 2014
—E—hEF

—EFE-HF
HK$'000
FHT

HK$'000
FET

Hong Kong Profits Tax (Note i)

BEMNEH(HZ0)

— current year — REE 1,291 3,529
— overprovision in prior years — BT FERERE = (12)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") (Note i)  EMEEH
(TR ZEPRISHE D) (B 2L (i)
— current year — RNEEF 895 725
— overprovision in prior years — BAFERERE (492) -
1,694 4,242
Deferred tax (Note 26) RS IE (KAt 26) 262 177
1,956 4,419
Notes: Mzt -
(i) Hong Kong (i) 5

EBFERIDEBAMBEENETESR
BB AR 16.5% 15 o

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for both years.

i)  PRC i o
PRC EIT is calculated based on the statutory rate of 25% of the AR R PTG T DR 5 50 P B B L Y P
assessable profit for those subsidiaries established in the PRC, B R EIERTR A 25% A E R R E -
as determined in accordance with the relevant income tax rules BB ERTHR B BB RS BR 0] & &
and regulations in the PRC. BIEETE ©
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 10. FRG#RBAZ ()
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the FA-FIEHRAIEGEEEaREMEE
(loss) profit before taxation per the consolidated statements WS REBRTRT (BE) S FEROT

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2015 2014
—E-1% —TmEF

HK$'000 HK$'000
T8 T

(Loss) profit before taxation BrELRT (E518) &= T (16,435) 11,472

Tax at Hong Kong Profits tax rate of 16.5% BREBNEHHE16.5%

(Note) TEOBIE (F) (2,712) 1,893
Tax effect of expenses not deductible TR HOIR A 2 MBS o2 2

for tax purposes 3,920 2,604
Tax effect of income not taxable BERBIMADBEE

for tax purposes = (348)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries RE M ELE R R S 2 1M B

operating in other jurisdictions NEITRER R E 401 309
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERHBEEENREZE 839 37
Utilisation of tax losses previously E) A S Bl R T SR ) 0 I8 S 18

not recognised = (64)
Overprovision in respect of prior years BT R R (492) (12)
Income tax expense for the year FEAERESZ 1,956 4,419
Note: The income tax rate in the jurisdiction where the operations Hiet - ERARERSEEBIERVERERE 2P

of the Group substantially based is used. SR -
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11. (LOSS) PROFIT FOR THE YEAR/COST OF 11. EE(BR)&H, HERF
SALES
(Loss) profit for the year FE (&E8)&=F
2015 2014
“E-EF —ZT-mEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT T
(Loss) profit for the year has been arrived FE(EE) m MRk
at after charging (crediting): GFA) AT RIEEAE
fFH
Directors’ remuneration EEE 5,193 3,334
Other staff salaries and allowances HME8 T TEMER 58,391 55,691
Retirement benefit scheme contributions, RREFET IR
excluding those of directors (EEERRIN) 4,423 2,925
Total employee benefits expenses REEMALLEEE 68,007 61,950
Auditor’s remuneration 1% BRI 5 B 1,782 488
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense B ER AR NFER A 276,264 298,239
Depreciation of an investment property —IBREMERE 81 81
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #% - = M REITE 9,121 9,709
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments SEANEIEN-C T i 113 113
Allowance of inventories FTERE 425 1,350
Net exchange loss fE H 518 %5 409 840
Gross rental income from investment property  REREWENEHS WA (331) (306)
Less: Direct operating expenses that generated & : FRELH S WA
rental income during the year HELERX = -
(331) (306)
Costs of sales SRR A
Cost of sales included cost of inventories and other direct WERABEGFERARSE LR H M
operating cost of retail business such as rental of retail shops. EEGYRA  MEERETES o
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12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 12. EE - FETBRABREAMS
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ and the chief executive’s (a) EERFETHAEME
emoluments
Details of the emoluments paid or payable to the ENHENRARIEERFZTHA
directors and the chief executive of the Company are as BoBeFENT
follows:
For year ended 31 March 2015 BE-—Z—AF=HA=+—HIFE
Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme
Name of director allowances contributions Total
IER EREA
ok Hthi=2 8y AT Bl @st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THERT THERT THET
Mr. Yang Wan Ho BXREE 952 282 - 1,234
Mr. Yang Si Hang BEELE 952 717 18 1,687
Mr. Yang Si Kit Kenny Lk Tt 952 846 18 1,816
Ms. Rubby Chau AERL+ 114 - - 114
Mr. Chan Chi Keung Alan [t 114 - - 114
Ms. Cheung Marn Kay st 114 - - 114
Mr. Chan Ming Sun Jonathan ~ [R#§4t 54 114 - - 114
3,312 1,845 36 5,193
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12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 12. EX-FETHRARBRER#NE
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued) (%)
(a) Directors’ and the chief executive’s (a) EERFETHAEME (&)
emoluments (Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2014 BE—_F-ME=A=1+—HIFE

Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme

Name of director Fee allowances  contributions Total

IR BRINGEH
fidkn Hio 2R ATEIHR E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TRT TRT TET TR

Mr. Yang Wan Ho BXEEE - 705 - 705
Mr. Yang Si Hang BEELE - 1,219 15 1,234
Mr. Yang Si Kit Kenny et Sied - 1,380 15 1,395
Ms. Rubby Chau BEREHL - - - -
Mr. Chan Chi Keung Alan BRE®REE - - - -
Ms. Cheung Marn Kay EL-} 8 - - - -

Mr. Chan Ming Sun Jonathan ~ [R#4t 54 - - - -

- 3,304 30 3,334
Mr. Yang Si Hang is also the chief executive of the GEr B ETTAREENEEITHA
Group and his emoluments disclosed above include B H Iie e EEEATETH
those for services rendered by him as the chief ABIREREHENE -

executive.
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12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND 12. EF - FETHARREREMS
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued) ()
(b) Employees’ emoluments (b) EEME
The five highest paid individuals of the Group include 3 HE_ZT—RAF=-A=+—HBL*F
directors (2014: 3) of the Company for the years ended E -AEELEESHFHALBER
31 March 2015. The emoluments of the remaining 2 NAZHEE(ZT—NF: =F) -
individuals (2014: 2) for the years ended 31 March 2015 B2 _ZT—RAFE_ZFT—NF=A
and 2014, respectively, are as follows: =+—BLEFE #BTMBAEAL(Z
T—NF : WA HBE 5 RIE )
T~
2015 2014
—F-I% —T—mF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T
Salaries and other allowances TE R HAER, 1,869 2,017
Retirement benefit scheme contributions  RRIEFIET B4 5% 35 60
1,904 2,077
The emoluments of the employees were within the RENMESN FIATEE :

following bands:

Number of employees

BEAZ

2015 2014

Up to HK$1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000 7% 7T 1 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 BLE

1,500,000 7 7T 1 1
No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the REEBEAAARMEAESSHAE
directors of the Company or the chief executive of the HFrETRABSAEHESTFMAL
Group or the five highest paid individuals as an SAHEAE S - ARSI EAIA AR EE
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as HERMAREB R EESIERK
compensation for loss of office. None of the directors of ERUHMHE REBEE-T-HFR
the Company or the chief executive of the Group ZE-NE=A=+—HILFE K
waived any emoluments during the years ended 31 NAEFHAEEFETHASHE
March 2015 and 2014. MEWEEAIEE -
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13. DIVIDEND
On 25 September 2014, a dividend of HK$14,717,000 was
declared by the Company. The dividend declared was
payable to Yang's Holdings Capital Limited.

No dividend has been proposed since the end of the
reporting period (2014: Nil).

14. (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic (loss) earnings per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the

following data:

(E18) 87

(Loss) earnings

(Loss) earnings for the purpose of basic

13. KR
R-Z—MFEALA-+HB  ARATIK
% 214,717,000 7T - EE IR SRR
FYang's Holdings Capital Limited % & °

BHREHRE  HEZREREIARE (=

T-mE:E)

14. =R (iR 27
ARRFE NG SRER (B8 BFTY
A T BRE

2015
—E—HhEfF

2014
—EF-NmF
HK$'000
FH&TT

HK$'000
FET

SHEESREARRN A

earnings per share (E518) BF
(Loss) profit for the year attributable to KARHEEANEBEEA
owners of the Company (E18) % A (18,391) 7,053
‘000 ‘000
TR TH&
Number of shares RHEE
Weighted average number of ordinary STEEREX(EE) &ZH
shares for the purpose of basic (loss) P AR 9 E @ AR N
earnings per share T8 3,473,973 3,000,000

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
purpose of basic (loss) earnings per share has been adjusted
for the capitalisation issue as detailed in note 27(vi) and the
subdivision of shares as detailed in note 38(b).

No diluted (loss) earnings per share has been presented for
either period as the Company has no potential dilutive

ordinary shares outstanding during both reporting periods.

ATESRER (BIR) Z AT R R L RN
RETFI9BIE LR 5T 27 (iv) FF L i) B A 3%
17 R HTEES8(o)FH R D SR AR (L R 2 -

A AR A A R 8 e o A 3 T AE S
HBEEE TR MAEZ25) M ESRME
R IEEE (B51R) &% -
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. Y% - BEREX{R

Furniture
Plant and and Office  Leasehold Motor Construction
Buildings  machinery equipment  equipment improvement vehicles in progress
HENE
BF BERHE GARRE HORE %% RE  ERIE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TR THT TR TERT FHT TER
COsT PR
At 1 April 2013 RZE-=FEA—H 33426 77,617 1,609 5548 5,603 3,302 871 127,976
Additions RE 1,210 1,043 - 377 495 819 - 3,944
Disposals e - - - - (766) (391) - (1,15)
Exchange realignment  [E % 3% 284 358 9 16 16 5 4 692
At 31 March 2014 WZ2-WE=A=t-H 34,920 79,018 1618 5941 5348 3735 875 131,455
Additions NE 82 150 149 173 728 540 - 1,822
Transfer i 826 - - - - - (826) -
Disposals HE - (223) - - - (1,373 - (1,596)
Exchange realignment [ X f§% (270) ) ®) (18) (15) (5 ?) (409)
At 31 March 2015 RZE-nF=f=1+-AH 35,558 78,854 1,759 6,096 6,061 2,897 47 131,272
DEPRECIATION ik
At 1 April 2013 RZE-=FNA—H 5,002 51,575 1,501 5,043 4,649 1,837 - 69,607
Provided for the year ~ FE &/ 699 6,891 47 283 654 1,135 - 9,709
Disposals HE - - - - (766) (332) - (1,098)
Exchange realignment [ % 9% £ 74 8 15 15 3 - 157
At 31 March 2014 RZZ-RmE
=R=t+-H 5743 58,540 1,556 5,341 4,552 2,643 - 78,375
Provided for the year ~ FE &/ 704 6,673 61 232 780 671 - 9121
Disposals e - (187) - - - (1,11 - (1,299)
Exchange realignment [ % 9) (©) ® (18 (15) 6 - (158)
At 31 March 2015 R=E-nF=A=1-H 6,399 64,960 1,609 5,557 5,317 2,198 - 86,040
CARRYING VALUES HEA
At 31 March 2015 R-E-1%=f=1-H 29,159 13,894 150 539 744 699 47 45,232
At 31 March 2014 RZE-ME=f=+-A 20177 20,478 62 600 79 1,092 875 53,080

The Group's buildings comprise properties held under

medium-term leases in the PRC and in Hong Kong.

As at 31 March 2015, the carrying amount of motor vehicles
includes an amount of HK$232,000 (2014: HK$477,000), in
respect of assets held under finance leases.

AEENETEERETHEONPER

FERBENYE -

R-EBE-—RAE=A=+—0  "AENE@
ERERERERERFM232,0008 (=
T—PU4E : 477,000787T) BE °
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. V%  BERSEME 2
(Continued)
The above items of property, plant and equipment other than Bz - R R #TE B (ER TRk
construction in progress are depreciated on a straight-line NEGFEZ T FRFE -

basis as follows:

Buildings Over the period of the relevant lease gF RAERAE L EIR
Plant and machinery 10% per annum i K Hezs BF10%
Furniture and equipment  20% per annum EXINSE ] FF 20%
Office equipment 20%-25% per annum NS FF 20%-25%
Leasehold improvement Over the period of the relevant lease HEMELRE LA K HABR 54
or 5 years, whichever is shorter NEBRE RE
Motor vehicles 30% per annum E FF30%
16. INVESTMENT PROPERTY 16. EYME
HK$'000
T

CosT e
At 1 April 2013 RZZE—=FMA—H 4,048
Exchange adjustments BE i, 2 35
At 31 March 2014 R-F-—MNFE=A=1t—H 4,083
Exchange adjustments i R B (34)
At 31 March 2015 RZZE—RF=A=+—H 4,049
DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT FERRE
At 1 April 2013 RZE—=Fm™A—H 647
Exchange adjustments s 6
Provided for the year FEBE 81
At 31 March 2014 RZZE—MFE=A=+—8H 734
Exchange adjustments b 5 A (6)
Provided for the year FREEE 81
At 31 March 2015 WZZE—HF¥=R=+—H 809
CARRYING VALUES IREE
At 31 March 2015 RZE-—RFE=A=+—H 3,240
At 31 March 2014 RZE—WMFE=A=+—H 3,349
The above investment property is erected on land in PRC REDHEERBN MR EYETIRER
held under medium-term lease and is depreciated on a FES L E - WIREEEBRAERET
straight-lined basis over the term of the relevant lease. E-
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17. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 17. AFEARRE

2015 2014
—F-I% —T—mF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
TH T FHTT

Analysed for reporting purposes as: BEWERFTEDT
Non-current assets FERBEE 4,253 4,400
Current assets mENE E 112 113
4,365 4,513

The Group's prepaid lease payments represents land use

AEE AN HEEFRBER Bz HE

rights held in the PRC under medium-term leases. DAL ERRE -
18. INVENTORIES 18. BE
2015 2014
—E-AEF —ZE U
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Raw materials R 37,667 39,257
Work in progress EES 37,634 36,838
Finished goods 2I6K @ 9,181 6,913
84,482 83,008
19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19. BHRHEMEBYKRIA
2015 2014
—E-RE —TmEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Trade receivables 2 5 EWERIE 13,247 19,315
Prepayments, deposits and TARTRUE - ke KA M EWRFIE
other receivables 7,100 4,141
20,347 23,456
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 19. RHRAMBUEREZ)

The Group allows credit period ranging from 30 days to 60
days to customers from OEM Business. For Retail Business, its
revenue comprises of cash, credit card sales and
concessionaire sales through concession counters in
department stores. The credit period granted to banks and
department stores ranges from 30 days to 60 days.

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables
presented based on the invoice date or the monthly

statement received from department stores at the end of the

reporting period.

AEEETRIUBEREEBSRPNEER
NFI0HEOR - HREEZEK - HA
BERE  EAFHERERERESERE
EITHNEEHEE BETROKBERED
EEHA30HZEA -

T AR HREHRZERAHRKEIRE
BEREENESARREINNE S EUEFIR
M RRER DA

2015 2014

—E—HF —EF-F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHERT T

0-30 days 0%30H 6,668 16,415
31-60 days 31E60H 490 1,005
61-90 days 61290H 864 1,744
Over 90 days 90 HLA = 5,225 151
13,247 19,315

Before accepting any new customer from OEM Business, the
Group assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and
defines credit limits by customer. Credit limits attributed to
customers and credit term granted to customers are reviewed
regularly. The majority of the trade receivables that are
neither past due nor impaired have no history of defaulting

on repayments.

Included in the Group's trade receivables balance are debtors
with aggregate carrying amount of HK$6,441,000 as at 31
March 2015 (2014: HK$1,906,000) which were past due at the
end of the reporting period for which the Group has not
provided for impairment loss as the Group considered such
balances could be recovered based on historical experience.

The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

RS R ST RS 281
AEEGFEEEESNEEAERER
BEMSEE - BF RGN EEE R
FEEMERENEHEN - AS UK E
80 BT 0 R 53 M0 3 A RO
sy -

AEENEZREFAEHREER_-F
—HF=A=+—HARMEES6441,000
B (ZF—%F : 1,906,000 7T) #) FE U
BRI RERERRSHRCEY  ER
SEYEFIRREBERE  DHRAE
ERRENBELR  ZFEBRTRD -
REBY B A S AR A EAERR -
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 19. RHRAMBUERE (Z)

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables which UTARESHREREERENE FE
are past due but not impaired at the end of the reporting WRIER BR B 94T
period:
2015 2014
—F-I% —T—mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
31 to 60 days 31E60H 352 1"
61 to 90 days 61290H 864 1,744
Over 90 days 90 HLA = 5,225 151
6,441 1,906
Trade and other receivables denominated in currencies other HEEEERUNEEE NI EEE
than the functional currency of the relevant group entities are BE 5 K E AN RUCGRIRSEF a0 T -

set out below.

2015 2014
—E-AF —TmF

HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TAT

HK$ BT 148 887

20. B EEERLAT —RERE
X BES EERE

20. AMOUNT(S) DUE FROM IMMEDIATE
HOLDING COMPANY/A CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER/RELATED PARTIES/

DIRECTORS
2015 2014
—E-HF —F-IF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT T
Immediate holding company (Note i) B A R (HfaEi) - 9,669
A controlling shareholder (Note ii) —BIERARR (Mat i) = 19,722
Directors (Note iii) == (Matiii) = 2,332
Other related parties (Note iv) HibRERs (Hfativ) = 627
- 32,350

STERRIERERAT o 2015F K 101



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
meMERRME
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(BEZZT—RF=A=1+—HILLFE)

20. AMOUNT(S) DUE FROM IMMEDIATE 20. B EERBRAT—RBEBE
HOLDING COMPANY/A CONTROLLING ®RESEERHEE)
SHAREHOLDER/RELATED PARTIES/

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Notes: Biat

(i) The amount due from immediate holding company, Yang's (i) FE W B £ 3T Ik A FlYang's Holdings
Holdings Capital Limited, was denominated in HK$, unsecured, Capital Limited H)FRIB I LB TTEHE - B
interest-free and repayable on demand. The maximum amount EER R RAREREERE HE-T
outstanding during the year ended 31 March 2015 was —RF=ZA=T—HBILFE  HKREEN
HK$9,669,000 (2014: HK$15,654,000). = ®EA9,6690008 L (T — M4 :

15,654,000/ 7T)

(i)  The balance represents amount due from Mr. Yang Wan Ho, (i)  ZERIBRWS X SEERNTIE - HIAE
was denominated in HK$, unsecured, interest-free and TTEHE AERF  RERBEENRE
repayable on demand. The maximum amount outstanding B-HEZT-—RF=-A=1T—HIHF
during the year ended 31 March 2015 was HK$19,722,000 (2014: B MAREENZSSEER19,722,000%
HK$26,274,000). Mr. Yang Wan Ho is also a director of the TL(ZZE—P4 1 26,274,00078 7T ) ° 15X
Company. SREEMBARRESE -

(i) Details of the amounts due from directors are as follows: (i) FEMCERFORFEMT

Maximum

amount

outstanding

during the

Name of director current year

RERE R

HE

EEpE —E-RF Z—q BE=tHE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FET FHET

Mr. Yang Si Hang HEFE L - 2,305 2,305

Mr. Yang Si Kit Kenny kot Pt - 27 2,127

- 2,332 4,432

The amounts due from directors are denominated in HKS$, JEWE EFIB A LA - AERKE -
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. R ERARENRER -
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(For the year ended 31 March 2015)
(BE-Z—RF=ZA=1+—HLLEFE)

20. AMOUNT(S) DUE FROM ULTIMATE HOLDING 20. Bl EERBR AR, —HREKREK

COMPANY/A CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER/ WRES EEREE)

RELATED PARTIES/DIRECTORS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued) Biat - (%)

(iv)  Details of the amounts due from other related parties are as (v) FEWEhRERE S FOEFFIBAT ¢
follows:

Maximum

amount

outstanding

during the

Name of related party Relationship of related party current year

REE R

HE

BESEM BEEEDHEE BEEH#
HK$'000

THT

Brighter Enterprises Limited A company controlled by - 298 298
Mr. Yang Si Kit Kenny
4 St e LoV

Casimira Apparel Limited A company controlled by - 19 19
Mr. Yang Si Hang
Ed RSy btk et LOPNG

Kitwise Limited A company owned by - 101 101

Mr. Yang Si Hang,
Ms. Yang Sze Man Salina
(daughter of the controlling
shareholder) and the
controlling shareholder

miBEELE  Hisrt
(PR R Y 22 52) B
AR R A A

Parkerson Trading Limited A company owned by - 47 47
Mr. Yang Si Hang,
Ms. Yang Sze Man Salina
(daughter of the controlling
shareholder) and the
controlling shareholder

mimEEEE  HFgrt

(ERBRERNZR) K
EREREBH AT
Ms. Chan Lo Mei Spouse of Mr. Yang Si Kit Kenny - 5 5
REXXL CESL. i =0f R
Yang's International Holdings A company controlled by - 157 157
Limited the controlling shareholder

SRR R IR B A

- 627
The amounts due from the above related parties are P BT RIB Ty A TTEHE - AE
denominated in HK$, unsecured, interest-free and repayable i R ERAREREER -

on demand.
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104

21. STRUCTURED BANK DEPOSITS/PLEDGED 21. HRWURTER CEHRTE
BANK DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES AND BBOTERRAS
CASH
Structured bank deposits HEBMRITHER

On 24 May 2013, the Group entered into a structured contract
with a bank with a principal sum of RMB7,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$8,844,000). The investment is a principal-protected
yield enhancement bank deposit and contains an embedded
derivative, with its return determined by reference to the
exchange rate of RMB against US$. The principal amount
together with the investment return will be repaid to the
Group on the maturity date of 11 December 2015. The
amount is therefore classified as a non-current asset as at 31
March 2014 and current asset as at 31 March 2015.

The structured bank deposits carry an expected but not
guaranteed return of 5% per annum, depending on the
exchange rate of RMB against US$ at certain pre-determined
dates. The fair value of the embedded derivative in the
structured bank deposits is determined based on the mark to

market valuation amount provided by the relevant bank.

Pledged bank deposits
Pledged bank deposits of the Group have been pledged to

secure short-term banking facilities granted to the Group.

The pledged bank deposits carry interest at the fixed rates
0.01% per annum as at 31 March 2015 (2014: 0.01% to 0.5%

per annum).

Bank balances and cash
Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and
short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three

months or less.
Bank balances carry interest at variable rates which range

from 0.01% to 0.25% per annum as at 31 March 2015 (2014:
0.01% to 0.35% per annum).

L & A International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2015

RZE—=FRA=-+WMA - NEEHE—
RRITEI L A58 A A KK 7,000,000 7T (18
728,844,000 7T) M G 4 - %R
BERRABERITFR - WHARARDT
AT A HERSE AR K ETHEER
B - A EERKBERRIGNEHA (B
ZE-RFFTZAt+-B)AREEERE -
AR -—Z—NE=ZA=Z+—HBE=-Z
—RAF=RA=+—08 ZFEINESHE
BIERBEERRBEE -

BORMARMBA X TNE THEAEE RS
MEE X - SR MERITEREREL ERE
B SR K 5% o MBI IRITIF KA A
HAOTET AR FEDBEEBRITRHED
HBEMEGESRET °

EEFRTER
AEEODERRITEADERERRE
B R HAIR I TRL A B B4R -

R-ZE—HE=A=+—0 %ZECEM
RITFEFIL0OTEMBEEENRFE(ZZ
—UF  GFENTO001EE05E) ©

RITHERRRE
BIRHER L REALERENES R
REMAA=EAAXTE=EANEHE
TR -

“ET-RF=ZRF=+—8 BITEHK
NF0.01EE025ERFEFFRFB (=
T—MOF : FFENT001EE035E) °
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(For the year ended 31 March 2015)
(BE-Z—RF=ZA=1+—HLLEFE)

21. STRUCTURED BANK DEPOSITS/PLEDGED 21. RENSBITER CEHRTHE
BANK DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES AND BRITHGRAS® 2
CASH (Continued)
Bank balances and cash (Continued) WMITHEBRRRE (#)
Pledged bank deposits and bank balances and cash RSB ERBUEEE I EEE
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency MERERITERRBITES LIRS
of the relevant group entities are set out below: NN

2015 2014
—F-I1% —T—mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THxT FHEIT
HK$ BT 16,693 9,315
Renminbi (“RMB") ARB(TARE]) 8,792 8,411

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 22. B RHEMEMRBRELX

ACCRUED EXPENSES

2015 2014

“E—-EF —Z—UF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FHBT

Trade payables B SN FIA 6,463 6,336
Commission fee payable JEft e & 310 1,638
Payable for social insurance HeRREE 2,463 3,530
Subcontracting fee payable RS BER 5,855 5,577
Accrued staff salaries BstETH S 1,868 2,281
Accrued rental expenses JEFTEERX 984 1,256
Other payables and accrued expenses  Hth JE < I8 K E5H 5 2 3,318 4,155
14,798 18,437
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22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 22 B REMEMREREAX
ACCRUED EXPENSES (Continued) ()
The ageing analysis of the trade creditors presented based RERENRREZAMEZINNE FEN
on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period is as ERRMBREC DT E S 20T
follows:

2015 2014
—E-AEF —ZE g
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THET T
0 to 60 days 02 60H 6,091 5,567
61 to 90 days 61E90H 15 544
Over 90 days Q0 R 357 225
6,463 6,336

Trade and other payables denominated in currencies other HEAEEERATREEE LI EEE

than the functional currency of the relevant group entities are BB 5 K EAM BN FIBAFRS AT

set out below.

2015 2014

—E—HF —EFE-HF

HK$'000 HK$'000

THxT FHEIT

HK$ T 8,040 9,316

23. AMOUNT(S) DUE TO A CONTROLLING 23. Effi—RIEZERER WRES EF
SHAREHOLDER/RELATED PARTIES/ ]
DIRECTORS

2015 2014

—E—HF —E-NF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHBxT FHIT

A controlling shareholder (Note i) —BIERIRER (M e i) = 5,030

Related parties (Note ii) B (Matii) - 17,503

Directors (Note iii) == (Katiii) = 787

= 23,320
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23. AMOUNT(S) DUE TO A CONTROLLING

SHAREHOLDER/RELATED PARTIES/
DIRECTORS (Continued)

Notes:

(i) The balance represented amount due to Mr. Yang Wan Ho and
was denominated in HK$, unsecured and repayable on
demand. Except for the amount of HK$2,701,000 as at 31
March 2014 which was interest bearing at prime rate quoted by
the Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
("HSBC") less 1% per annum and the amount of HK$1,493,000
as at 31 March 2014, which was interest bearing at prime rate
quoted by the HSBC less 2.85% per annum, the remaining
balance was interest-free.

23. Eft—RERER WES EE
WA (&)

et -

0] ZERIEREMNIS IR ERFIE - TS
TLAHE - AEKFRERENREE - BR
—ZT—NF=HF=+—HAH2701,000
BITHRBRES LOELRITERAR
(DEZRT R ESRFER1ENF
MEFERR-ZE—NF=ZA=1+—B5
£1,493,0007% JT B SR IB IR E L IR1TFT 3R
SEEFERFH285EMFEFRFEIN - H
BEHRTABRE -

(ii) Name of related party Relationship of related party 2015 2014
BES B ERELNER —E-HFE —T-NOF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Kitwise Limited A company owned by Mr. Yang Si Hang, - 1,540
Ms. Yang Sze Man Salina and the controlling shareholder
miG B E - Bt MIERRRERH A F)
Parkerson Trading A company owned by Mr. Yang Si Hang, - 234
Limited Ms. Yang Sze Man Salina and the controlling shareholder
BB ERE Bt MR RER AR
Ms. Yang Sze Man Daughter of the controlling shareholder - 2,000
Salina ERREREZ R
BETH T
Mr. Law Hing Fai Spouse of Ms. Yang Sze Man Salina - 7,000
EERBLE BB T AERE
Yang's International A company controlled by the controlling Limited shareholder - 6,729
Holdings R ERARRIZEHIE A E
- 17,503

All the amounts due to related parties were denominated in
HK$, unsecured and repayable on demand.

As at 31 March 2014, amount of HK$5,000,000 due to Mr. Law
Hing Fai was interest bearing at a fixed rate of 4% per annum,
the remaining amount due to Mr. Law Hing Fai of HK$2,000,000
and the amount due to Ms. Yang Sze Man Salina were interest
bearing at variable rate at prime rate quoted by HSBC less 1%
per annum.

Except for the amounts due to Mr. Law Hing Fai and Ms. Yang
Sze Man Salina, the remaining amounts were interest-free.

(iii)

Name of director

HEsiEksE
BRI e

Mr. Yang Si Hang
Mr. Yang Si Kit Kenny

FE R B SR LB A HE - B
R R AR B RS -

R-ZB-—ME=ZA=+—0 " ENEESE
St HE B9 FNIA 5,000,000 7 7T Jh ik 4 B E E
FHETE - ERENEEEEENKIE
2,000,000 7% 7T & FEA 15 5 B2 - K R IB Bl
RELRITATMEEEN LRI ENZE
FHERL -

BRENEERETE RS FHLLTHNKR
Sh - HMFIRH RS

2014
T —F

HK$'000
TET

- 248
- 539

- 787

The amounts due to directors were denominated in HK$,
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

FENESERIATY LB TTAHE - BB
RENARERER -
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24. OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES 24, BEEERH
During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Group acquired HEZZ-—MF=A=+—HLLFE K
certain of its motor vehicles under finance leases for a term of SEREREEERBETAE HIRA
3 to 5 years. Interest rates are fixed at the acquisition date “ERF-NERKREEMEET R-F
and the effective borrowing rates ranged from 1.75% to 4% —REF=A=T—HHNEBREEMNENTF
per annum as at 31 March 2015 (1.75% to 4% per annum as at FIER4B(R T —WF = A
31 March 2014). The leases are on a fixed repayment basis. =t+—HNFEBFI175EBZ4E) - Z5H

#) o3 B E B iE B AERT AL

Present value of minimum

Minimum lease payments lease payments
RERERFN BERENNRNRE
2015 2014 2015 2014
“E-RF —T—mMF ZB-HEF —T—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THT THET FET
Amounts payable under RIZREHE
finance leases: JEAT IR
Within one year —FNR 88 454 82 425
In more than one year but —F A HETHES
not more than two years R F 130 183 126 168
In more than two years but MEA LB EE
not more than five years hF - 255 - 247
218 892 208 840
Less: future finance charges B RIRRVE B R (10) (52) = -
Present value of lease obligations & EKIRE 208 840 208 840
Less: Amount due for settlement  J&{ : ZHR—F R
within one year and shown BERIIA
under current liabilities BB ENKIE (82) (425)
Amount due for settlement BER—FRERZ
after one year PEQE] 126 415
The Group's obligations under finance leases are secured by AEENREHEEH HUHEANEE
the lessor's charge over the leased assets. BEMCTIERER -
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25. BANK BORROWINGS

25. RITER

2015 2014
—EB-fHE —M4F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
TH T FAT

Bank borrowings RITIEE
— Variable rate trust receipt loans — ZEEFBIRER 36,175 50,726
— Variable rate packing loans — ZRIBER 2,460 5,310
— Fixed rate tax loans — ELTEER - 11,563
38,635 67,599

The bank borrowings of the Group are secured and repayable
within one year from the end of the reporting period based
on scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements. All the bank borrowings contain a repayable on
demand clause, hence, the amounts are shown under current

liabilities.

The fixed rate tax loans as at 31 March 2014 carried interest at
4.50% per annum.

The variable rate bank borrowings carry interests at Hong
Kong Best Lending Rate quoted by the lender plus 1.75% per
annum or prevailing interest rate of the lender plus 1% per
annum. The ranges of effective interest rates on borrowings
are 4.23% to 6.75% per annum as at 31 March 2015 (2014:
4.01% to 6.75% per annum).

AEBENRITEERSBER  REEXH
FATHIEATEREAY  AEREH KL
—FRNEE MERTEREHRSAKE
REENGER - At ZFFERRBPE
EHIR

KoE-—mEZA=—AME
SRR ASOE B -

EHEE

FRBITERERBEAMBREEREERN
K 7sESRERARITHEM ENF

MEFE - R-_E—RF=A=+—8"
EENERFFNENT423EE675E (=

T—UF  FREL0NEZ6T5E) o
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25. BANK BORROWINGS (Continued) 25. RITEE®)
Bank borrowings denominated in currencies other than the HEEEERUNgEBIINEBETERN
functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set out RITIEEH T -
below:

2015 2014

—F-I% i

HK$'000 HK$'000

TExT FETT

HK$ BT 2,460 27,548
The trust receipt loans of HK$36,175,000 and packing loans of R-ZZE—RHF = A =+—H 36,175,000
HK$2,460,000 as at 31 March 2015 were secured by: TCRYE FE YR B F N 2,460,00078 T HI T 6

ERTIA TSI BEER :

e Undertakings of certain subsidiaries of the Company o ARAETWEBRRRE THEANT
and certain related companies BT

e Pledged bank deposits of HK$6,056,000 and structured e RIE-—RF=A=+—HHNZHER
bank deposit of HK$8,399,000 as at 31 March 2015 SR 17 77 74 6,056,000 78 7T I 45 18 14 R

1717 7% 8,399,000 7T

e Life insurance policy entered into by a subsidiary e —HNBARIRENATRE
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25. BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)
The trust receipt loans of HK$40,052,000, packing loans of
HK$5,310,000 and tax loans of HK$11,563,000 as at 31 March
2014 were secured by:

o Debentures over all assets and undertakings of certain
subsidiaries of the Company and certain related

companies

o Legal charge over certain properties owned by the
controlling shareholder, certain directors and certain

related companies

o Pledged bank deposits of HK$6,055,000 and structured
bank deposit of HK$8,389,000 as at 31 March 2014

o Charge over certain plan and equipment with a carrying
amount of HK$18,105,000 as at 31 March 2014, owned
by a subsidiary

o Unlimited guarantee from the controlling shareholder,

certain directors and certain related companies
o Life insurance policy entered into by a subsidiary

The trust receipt loans of HK$10,674,000 as at 31 March 2014

were also secured by:

o Guarantee by Hong Kong Special Administrative Region

under the Special Loan Guarantee Scheme

° Guarantee by Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation
Limited under the Small and Medium Enterprise

Financing Guarantee Scheme

o Unlimited guarantee from the controlling shareholder

and certain directors

25.

MITEE 2
MW=Z—MF = A=+ — H40,052,000%
TLHE T E B 3R~ 5,310,000 THY T &
B % 11,563,000 T FIBE T AT
P S IBIEH IR

ARBETHEARRETRERR
R EE NER

. ZREER - ETEERE THEEQR
BAENE TYRAEERL

. R-B—NE=A=+—HNHD KM
8 1T 12 3% 6,055,000 7% 7T [ 4% 1 M 4R
1717 3% 8,389,000 7T

. H—RMBRARHENS THRELR
HR—E-—NE=A=+—HB8E
M1{& 4 18,105,00078 7T) K HEC

e EEBR BETEERETHERR
TR AR B FE IR

o —HWBARKRBHAZRE

RZZ—MF=[=+—HH 10,674,000
TR FEBIRE R A N5 S BEER

o BABEIITRERBEEIEFRER
B EH A TER

o  ABBRBESFERQFMBEH/NEE
REERBIFELAER

. 2R R Ko A T E B R H O SRR ] 42
=&
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26. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for

financial reporting purposes:

26. BERMEEE AR
BT A3 B RS B @ E1T
B

B E TR IR A

2015 2014

—E—HF —EF-F

HK$'000 HK$'000

TET TFETT

Deferred tax liabilities FEREFRTEEE 109 102
Deferred tax assets FEREFRTBE B (628) (883)
(519) (781)

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets)

recognised and movements thereon during the current and

prior years:

AT RRNE
HIEAE(BE) REEE

Accelerated
tax

depreciation

TN E

e
HK$'000
FAT

AIRBEFERERNEBIRL

Provision for
long service
payments and
social welfare

RERBE
RHEER
B
HK$'000
TAET

wst
HK$'000
FHBT

At 1 April 2013 R-ZE—=FWA—H 108 (1,066) (958)
(Credit) charge to profit or loss PEZE GEA) kB 6) 183 177
At 31 March 2014 RZE—WF=A=+—H 102 (883) (781)
(Credit) charge to profit or loss PEz GEA) 1k (5) 267 262
At 31 March 2015 » —hAF¥=A=+—H 97 (616) (519)
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(For the year ended 31 March 2015)
(BE-Z—RF=ZA=1+—HLLEFE)
26. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES (Continued)

26. RIERBEE AR 2

Under the EIT Law of PRC, starting from 1 January 2008, 10%
withholding income tax is imposed on dividends declared in
respect of profits earned by the subsidiaries established in
the PRC from the calendar year 2008 onwards to their foreign
shareholders. No deferred taxation has been provided in
respect of temporary differences attributable to the
undistributed profits of HK$19,340,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB15,380,000) earned by the Group’s PRC
subsidiaries as at 31 March 2015 (2014: HK$14,701,000
(equivalent to RMB11,675,000)), because the Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not

reverse in the foreseeable future.

As at 31 March 2015, the Group had unused tax losses of
approximately HK$13,621,000 (2014: HK$8,551,000). No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
unused tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams and the unused tax losses may be carried forward

indefinitely.

BEPECEMSHE BZSTNF—
A—HE  BERFPEKRZHARG®RE =
TN\ FEFRBEA R [ H RN R
FIREIE B 10% B FBINFTER - BR
RNEE AL HEHI TR E OB BN - m
B EERATAET N A RiGREE
T ERAEEPEMNEARNR_E—H
FZA=+T—BERMH KD KRN
19,340,000 T B & N & A R ¥
15,380,0007C © — & — P04 : 14,701,000
TC(FEE R HIAREE 11,675,000 7T ) ) FEAfH Y
AR REE R IB R -

NZZ—RAFE=ZA=1+—8 ' AE£EH
BARE AT IARIEL13,621,0008 L (=ZF
—PO4 ¢ 8,551,000/87T) o FHAMEUETE AR
2Rt I OIR Fe AR B P U TE R 18 ] f PR A 8
M B R B) A I B R AR
BEE -
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27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. B&F
The issued share capital shown in the consolidated statement RZZE—MNFE=A=+—8 " GReHBEHk
of financial position as at 31 March 2014 represented the R PP B BT R OR BBL&A
share capital of L & A Interholdings Inc.. Interholdings Inc. BYAR 7K o
The Company AN

Number of
Notes shares Amount

At RPEE kot
HK$'000
TAT

Authorised: EE
— At 5 June 2014 (date of incorporation), — — FiEfA sz B E
ordinary shares of US$1.00 each “E-MEARALAE
FAREE1.00%TH
AR (i) 50,000 390
— Increase in authorised share capital, — EIETERA B’
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 010/ TH T B (ii) 3,800,000 380
— Cancellation of 50,000 ordinary — 3T $450,000 fX & %
shares of US$1.00 each [ENERROESM:ok=Stli (ii) (50,000) (390)
— Increase in authorised share capital — BAEE R AN (iii) 996,200,000 99,620
— At 31 March 2015, ordinary —RZE-RF=A=+—8"
shares of HK$0.10 each FREE.10HTTH
iR 1,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRER:
— lIssue of ordinary share at 5 June 2014 — R iHfAk T B EA
(date of incorporation) of US$1.00 “E-WENARRET
1.00ETTH) 3B (1) 1 -
— Issue of ordinary share of HK$0.10 — E17010B T L AR (ii) 1 -
— Share repurchased of ordinary — R EEEGREE
share of US$1.00 each 1.00E€TH E B (ii) M -
— lssue of shares upon a group — EEEARETRN
reorganisation (iv) 99,999,999 10,000
— Issue of shares upon placing — BRER BT v) 100,000,000 10,000
— Capitalisation issue — B ETT (vi) 200,000,000 20,000
— At 31 March 2015, ordinary —RZE-—RF=ZA=+—RH"
shares of HK$0.10 each FRREBEO0.10 LA
EimAR 400,000,000 40,000
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27. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

0]

(iii)

The Company was incorporated on 5 June 2014 with an
authorised share capital of US$50,000 divided into 50,000
ordinary shares with a nominal value of US$1.00 each and one
share of a par value of US$1.00 was allotted and issued fully
paid to Mapcal Limited as the initial subscriber, which was
transferred to Yang's Holdings Capital Limited, for US$1.00 on
the same day.

Pursuant to the resolutions of the shareholder of the Company
dated 7 July 2014, the authorised share capital of the Company
was increased from the aggregate of US$50,000 divided into
50,000 shares of a par value of US$1.00 each to the aggregate
of (i) US$50,000 divided into 50,000 shares of a par value of
US$1.00 each and (ii) HK$380,000 divided into 3,800,000 shares
of a par value of HK$0.10 each by the creation of an additional
HK$380,000 divided into 3,800,000 shares of a par value of
HK$0.10 each. On 8 July 2014, one Share with a par value of
HK$0.10 in the Company was allotted and issued as fully paid
to Yang's Holdings Capital Limited for a consideration of
US$1.00. Immediately after the above allotment and issue
having been effected, the Company repurchased one share
with a par value of US$1.00 each in issue for a consideration of
US$1.00 from Yang's Holdings Capital Limited. Following the
repurchase, the authorised but unissued share capital of the
Company was reduced by the cancellation of 50,000 shares of
a par value of US$1.00 each, such that the authorised share
capital of the Company is HK$380,000 divided into 3,800,000
shares of a par value of HK$0.10 each.

On 18 September 2014, the authorised share capital of the
Company was increased from HK$380,000 divided into
3,800,000 shares of a par value of HK$0.10 each to
HK$100,000,000 divided into 1,000,000,000 shares of a par
value of HK$0.10 each by the creation of additional 996,200,000
new shares under a resolution in writing passed by Yang's
Holdings Capital Limited.

On 18 September 2014, the Company and Yang's Holdings
Capital Limited entered into a share swap agreement pursuant
to which Yang's Holdings Capital Limited transferred the entire
issued capital in L & A Interholdings Inc. to the Company. In
consideration of the transfer of the entire issued capital in the L
& A Interholdings Inc., the Company allotted and issued
99,999,999 of its own new shares to Yang's Holdings Capital
Limited, all credited as fully paid.

Since 10 October 2014, the Company has been listed on the
Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange by way of
placing (the “Placing”). Pursuant to the Placing, the Company
issued 100,000,000 new shares at the price of HK$0.6 per share.
The gross proceeds from the Placing were HK$60,000,000.

27. B&& (&)

Ba -

i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

KEEHRIERERDE o 20155

ARBRZT—MFENARB ML
HETE AR A 3 50,000 7T + 43 4% 50,000 AR
BREME1.00ETHEER - h—REE
7 1.00 3 7T BIRR 19 BASLUR Bk 2 = B 3
K %17 F Mapcal Limited (1E &%) # R 8
A) - ZIRRR ) B 12 7R B A 1.005 T8
3% T Yang's Holdings Capital Limited ©

BEARFEHA-Z—NELALED
AR RS - B BIER 380,000 T (5 A
3,800,000 % & % [ 15.0.10 7 7T &9 B2 19
RN BLETERAHE H50,000E7T(H A
50,000 A% & A% 1 {8 1.00 3 JT /9 A 17 ) 3% N
Z & 3 () 50,0003 7T (5 £ 50,000 B& & B%
& 1.0037THIAR 1) K (i1)380,00078 7T (55
#$3,800,000A% FAREIE0. 108 TTRIAR () )
RZZE—MOF+ANE - KRR —REE
A0.108 TR ABUR B S ER 3
17T Yang's Holdings Capital Limited -
RIEA1.003FETT - e FlfLE REITE
g - AR A LA AE1.003 JT A Yang's
Holdings Capital Limited & — X FEI{E &
1.00ETH B BITRG - RERE - AAQ
AIEY SR TE (B AR 21T IR AN 1B 7§ 50,000 %
FRE(E 1.00 3T T EIRL - F A
A A A E IR AR A380,0000 (9 A
3,800,000 A% AX E1E 0.10 B T HIA% (D) °

RZZE—MFENA+/\B - BiEYang's
Holdings Capital Limited i i@ &) 2 R 3
%= ' B & 1B 52 996,200,000 A% 37 B 15

18 2N 1 8]0 7 AR 7K B9.380,0007% 7T (9 A
3,800,000 f% F AR EI{E 0.10 8 LKA 15 ) 35
SN2 100,000,0007% 7t (4 4 1,000,000,000
RS EE0.10 B AR D) -

RZZE-—WMEARA+TNB  AQAH
Yang's Holdings Capital Limited 3] 32 & 17
H # # #% - B Lt Yang's Holdings
Capital Limited[A] 4~ A & 8 L & A
Interholdings Inc. 2 #F 2 B 1TAR AR < fER
8% & A Interholdings Inc. & 8 B2 2 17
& AN 8 (K18 - A2 M Yang's Holdings
Capital Limited it 8 & % 17 H K & 0
99,999,999 B #E ARSI BB ©

A-Z—NE+A+TBR  ARRUERE
FR(TEE D RE R FTAIER LT - RIE
RE  ANABIKRFREBLE LT
100,000,000 & ¥ f& 17 o BLE FT1S RUIBEAR 58
/60,000,000 7T °

115



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e

A 35 4R R Pl oE

(For the year ended 31 March 2015)
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27. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(vi)

Pursuant to the resolutions of the shareholders passed on 25
September 2014, the directors of the Company were
authorized to allot and issue a total of 200,000,000 shares
credited as fully paid at par to the holders of shares on the
register of members of the Company at the close of business
on 25 September 2014 (or as they may direct) in proportion to
their respective shareholdings by way of capitalisation of the
sum of HK$20,000,000 standing to the credit of the share
premium account of the Company as a result of the Placing on
10 October 2014, and the shares allotted and issued under this
resolution rank pari passu in all respects with the existing
issued shares.

28. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

27. BR&E(#)
fitaE - (4)

Vi) BRERZZ-—NFALA-+AARBAK
FREFEER - ARAIESEEESBEERD
IR —ZE—ME+ A+ EETRERSK
D% BER#E IR A £ 20,000,000 TR 7T E
Ao AR-ZZE—MFLA-+RHBEER
BECEE NN e i ) e =]
AEIRFESMER)  REBESESENF
A% Lt 51 B2 3% K %% 17 & $£200,000,000 % 1%
HEEARIIERR OG- MIBEZRE
REFHRBETHORNES HFEAHEERFE
BITRM ZH RSk

28. BEXKIR

2015 2014
—E—AF —ZpE

HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TAT

Capital expenditure contracted for RUEEWZE - BE

but not provided for in the REEETAE
consolidated financial statements RINERE BT ERTR

in respect of acquisition of property,  FEHEHE AR
plant and equipment

- 224
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 29. HEBk#ERTR)

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was
adopted pursuant to a written resolution of the shareholder
passed on 25 September 2014. The purpose of the Scheme is
to enable the Company to grant options to selected
participants as incentives on rewards for their contribution to
the Company.

The maximum number of shares to be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the
Company's issued share capital from time to time. No options
may be granted under any schemes of the Company or the
subsidiary of the Company if such grant will result in the

maximum number being exceeded.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options (excluding, for this purpose, options
which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company)
must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of
share in issue at the time dealings in the Share first commence
on the Stock Exchange which amounts to 40,000,000 shares.

The exercise price is determined by the directors of the
Company at their discretion, provided that such price shall
not be less than the highest of (i) the average closing price of
the ordinary shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the option (which must be a
business day); and (ii) the closing price of the ordinary shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet on
the date of grant of the option (which must be a business
day). A consideration of HK$1.00 is payable on acceptance of
the offer of the grant of an option. An option may be
accepted by a participant within 28 days from the date of the

offer of grant of the option.

Unless terminated by the Company by resolution in general
meeting, the Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period
of 10 years commencing on 10 October 2014, the date on

which the Scheme becomes unconditional.

No share options were granted as at 31 March 2015.

BE—ZFE—NMFALA-THBBRBHRE
EEARR ARFEREMN—IERARETE
([5%EHEl]) - ZETEIE EFEAR B A ML
PEM 2 EEF N ERE - LR S E R
HEHRRRNER

BT AR R A2 AT & B AR X B 69 (] B At g
Pt 8P O & B M R 1T A0 8 AU
MAETHRSRNHEE S TFEBBA
NETECBEITRAA30% © 5% th A
BRESEREBRSEE - AITERE
AR B AR A QB H AR B
FERHE -

BT 2 2B AR (BLit - TRIEIRIRZET
B R AN A R fa] E A B AR ST &I M IR E
KRB R ) T Al 8L BT R (D R ETF
BBRORB R EXARE BRD T
f% 13 48 21 19 10% (48 & 72 40,000,000 A% A%

) e

AEERARRESNISET - HEHE
BASERTIESE  (VEBRNEE
REEREAH(KNEAZXR)AMAEE
¥AMXMBARBERMBTEHWAE
RiEBRAFEEREASB(MERE
¥H)BMRAERRERTRKTE - 5#H
FT¥% BB A 7 2 4V B 8 40 1.008 T 1
B -2HEAEREEREZHB R
28 B INEE NEE AR RE o

BAEARDVEREARBBRARMEL -
A E T —mE+ A+ A (D
SRR AR IRITE B) R 10F A —HER
RAM -

R-ZE—RHE=A=1+—0 #HERLE
ATBE AR AE -

KEEHRIERERDE o 20155 117
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(For the year ended 31 March 2015)
(BE-_Z—RF=ZA=1+—HLLEFE)

30. OPERATING LEASES 30. EEHE
(a) The Group as lessor (a) AEEEREBEA
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had REREHAR - NEEE RN TFIE
contracted with tenants for the following future FREM A HEEEEHE TR A%
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable AR S FREAM AFTAY

operating leases, which fall due as follows:

2015 2014
“E-EF —Z—UF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT T
Within one year —FR 293 333
In the second to fifth year inclusive ~ E-_FZFHF(BHEEERF) - 293
293 626
All of the operating leases held have committed tenants RENMAERLHENREFAHEER
for the next one to five years. —ERFMMFE -
(b) The Group as lessee (b) xEBERAEBEA
2015 2014
—E-AEF —ZE U
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET T
Operating lease rentals during FAS TS ENEEHERS
the year in respect of:
Retail shops TEEH 12,032 11,283
Office premises BIENEL Y ES 944 1,023
Total #Et 12,976 12,306
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(BE-Z—RF=ZA=1+—HLLEFE)

30. OPERATING LEASES (Continued) 30. ¥EHE &)
(b) The Group as lessee (Continued) (b) mXEBEEAEBAE)
At the end of each reporting period, the Group had REREHAR - NEERBEN TIIE
commitments for future minimum lease payments under MEEN AR CEHEREE
non- cancellable operating leases in respect of rented %A A RSERENFURE

premises which fall due as follows:

2015 2014

—E—HF —EF-mF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHET TAET

Within one year —ER 6,247 7,307

In the second to fifth year inclusive ~ E£ -FZFAF (BIEEEMRE) 864 1,905
7,111 9,212

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by REBENRIEAREREARAE
the Group for its office and retail shops. Leases are TEEHEMORSE - BOFHEM
negotiated for an average of two years. For certain of FHE R - RAKEETTEER
the Group's retail shops, rentals are variable being mE - He28 - RBEEEHAE
calculated at the higher of a pre-agreed percentage of HHETRLHE B D L& A
sales generated at the rented shops or the minimum AANSERENFTNRREE -

lease payments specified in the lease agreement.

31. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 31. BFEFEHE
The Group participates in a defined contribution scheme AEE2E-BEREHKGE - BRER
which is registered under the Mandatory Provident Fund HERARE RN —FTTF T AN
Scheme (the "MPF Scheme”) established under the et AE S E([REDTE]) - %
Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance in December 2000. The AEMEERAEENEESHARA X
assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the AXEAZHNESRHA -

Group, in funds under the control of trustees.

For members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes at B estElkBmE  AKEREA
the lower of HK$1,250 per month (increased to HK$1,500 per 12508 (B -2 —HFE XA —H’E LR
month effective from 1 June 2014) or 5% of relevant payroll ZHH150087T)EAEBIEXAD
costs each month to the MPF Scheme, which contribution is 5% (R&EH 2 BIEE) MRSt SR -
matched by the employee. RS R SR -
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31.

32.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES (Continued)

The employees in the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of the state-managed retirement benefit schemes
operated by the PRC government. Those subsidiaries are
required to contribute a specified percentage of their payroll

costs to the retirement benefit schemes to fund the benefits.

The only obligation of the Group with respect to these
retirement benefits schemes is to make the specified
contributions. During the reporting period, the total amounts
contributed by the Group to the schemes and cost charged
to the profit or loss represents contributions paid/payable to
the schemes by the Group at rates specified in the rules of
the schemes. The retirement benefits scheme contributions
made by the Group amounted to HK$4,459,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2015 (2014: HK$2,955,000).

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(a) Related party balances
Details of the outstanding balances with related parties
are set out in the consolidated statement of financial
position and in notes 20 and 23.

(b) Related party transactions

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated

financial statements, the Group entered into the

following transactions with related parties:

31.

32.

RkTEFIETE ()
AEBETENBAREANESEREK
BRAEARBAFTEINKE - %t ElaH
BBATEE - ZEMBRBERETER
RIETE B L RARKENFEIAERHE
Ho AREENABEZES °

REERZERNBAAEEENETR
TEH IR E K - RIE EAR - AEEMZ
ZETEEL MR RATE REF A BRAK AR
AL EZZETERBR TN L R\ Z
AN EANER - BHEZE R
F=A=1+—HILFE FAEEEDLNER
R %8 A 5T 8 4 3R A 4,459,008 L (= &
—PY4E : 2,955,000/ 7T) °

RESHRE

(a) BAER AR
HIREE T 0 M R BB AR H NS
S IBAR K K20 & 23 -

BELIRS

MR ZE LR A MR A M5 P
BN REBHEEERFTA TR
5

(b)

Nature of expenses

paid/payable

Related party

FEECH/ BN
FAxitE

BER

A controlling shareholder — R R Interest
Rental
Ms. Yang Sze Man Salina Bzt Interest
Mr. Law Hing Fai BEESE Interest
Parkerson Trading Limited Parkerson Trading Limited ~ Rental
Kitwise Limited Kitwise Limited Rental

by the Group

2015 2014

“g-If T

HK$'000 HK$'000

TET THT

FE 29 29
G, 247 247
8 34 80
& 117 280
ik 210 210
itk 487 487
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32. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued)

32. MEHHRE 2

(c) Compensation of directors and key
management personnel

(c) EERFEEEASHM

2015 2014

“E—EF —Z—UF

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#&xT FETT

Salaries and other allowances e M H fihEAL 7,026 5,321
Retirement benefit scheme and IRIAERET B R

contributions 71 90

7,097 5411

The remuneration of directors of the Company and key

ARBEERAEEETRERARH

management personnel of the Group are determined BTS2 EEARRBEE ©
having regard to the performance of the individuals.
33. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 33. EFEEER

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the group
companies will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the

optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes bank borrowings disclosed in note 25, amount(s) due
to a controlling shareholder/related parties/directors, net of
cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners
of the Company, comprising issued share capital, share

premium, special reserve, other reserve and retained profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
regularly. As part of this review, the directors consider the
cost and the risks associates with each class of the capital.
Based on the recommendations of the directors, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through issue of new
debt and redemption of existing debts.

AEEERLER  HREBECHEHR
MR TG - RREEE TR AR
BEE  ABESENEEANER -

NE AT =

AEBENEARBRERERFE(REME
BAWERTEE) BN —BERK
R/BER/EEZFR: KBRS RRE
EBEWMFERANRAEE AR EELS (BT
BTN - BRin a8 - BRIfFeE - B
wRREBENAERK) o

ARREFTEHRAERRE - FRER
AMEP-R EFEREEERNKAR
PR E RO - ERERMERER
AEEREBBITHERLERRAER
femFEEREBERER -
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(BE-%—

HF=A=+—-BItFE)

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Categories of financial instruments

(a)

(b)

34. @TR

(a)

TR T AEER

2015 2014
—E-HF —4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET T
Financial assets SREE
Loans and receivables (including ERREKRZE(BIFRS KR
cash and cash equivalents) REEEBY) 36,254 65,826
Structured bank deposit B IEIRTTIER 8,399 8,389
Investments held for trading HEEERE - 365
Financial liabilities SRIEE
Obligations under finance leases BEREES 208 840
Amortised cost SR AR 55,564 111,169
55,772 112,009
Financial risk management objectives and (b) €REMEREBFERBEEK

policies

The Group's major financial instruments include trade
and other receivables, amount(s) due from (to)
immediate holding company/a controlling shareholder/
related parties/directors, investments held for trading,
pledged bank deposits, structured bank deposit, bank
balances and cash, trade and other payables and bank

borrowings.

Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in
the respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risks (currency risk
and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out
below. The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are

implemented on a timely and effective manner.

AEENTECRTIARIEES RE
L REMRIR - R (FEfY) B R
Bl —RERRRES S EER
B FEEERE  oERARTHE
M AEBIMEIRITER - SRITEBR MR
T B S REMBENFIRARIRITE
o

J'L /_\

ZEEMTAFBNSMERE - &
ZETRTAER E’] BREEMSE
B (B ER RN XE ER) EERR

NMnBE SRR o BKZF R R
REIINTX - BEEBEEREEZ
HEE - AERIKA R EMEE
o
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(BEZ_T-—AF=A=T—HILFE)
34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
pO|iCieS (Continued)
Market risk

(i)

Currency risk

Certain bank balances, trade and other receivables
and trade and other payables, amount(s) due from
(to) immediate holding company/a controlling
shareholder/related parties/directors, pledged
bank deposits, structured bank deposit,
obligations under finance leases and bank
borrowings of the Group are denominated in
foreign currency of the respective group entities

which are exposed to foreign currency risk.

The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, management
monitors foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency

exposure should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign
currency denominated monetary assets and

liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as

follows:

34. #MTIRE)
(b) &RiEREERRERBER @)

™5 E ke

(i)

g

AEBIAS REEBNINEET
BENETRITESR EHRE
YRR ~ B 5 R E MR
R - A (M) BERERR
A/ —RERKBRR &
7 EERE/BERRITE
R BBUERTER BEH
EEBARRITEEEBRING
[\

AL B Al I ) E MK Ed
B o AT EIRE BRI SNE
EXER YHRFTEREE
hBEBRINERR

REMEHR - REBUINE
SHEMEBEERAGENER
BT

2015 2014
—F-I% —T—mF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
TExT FETT
Assets BE
HK$ BT 16,841 20,167
RMB AR 8,792 8,411
Liabilities aE
HK$ BT 10,708 60,889
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on
fluctuation of RMB and HK$.

The following table details the Group's sensitivity
to a 5% increase and decrease in US$ against
RMB. 5% is the sensitivity rate used which
represents management'’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange
rates. The sensitivity analysis does not include
outstanding relevant monetary items denominated
in HK$ as the directors of the Company consider
that the Group's exposure to HK$ is insignificant
on the ground that HK$ is pegged to US$. The
sensitivity analysis adjusts their translation at the
year end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates.
A positive number below indicates an increase in
post-tax loss or a decrease in post-tax profit where
US$ strengthen 5% against RMB. For a 5%
weakening of US$ against RMB, there would be an

equal and opposite impact on the (loss) profit.

(Loss)/Profit for the year

FE(BR), @

34. #MTI R %)
cHEREEBERBERE)

(b)

™% kR ()
(i) BE¥mEE)
AEBEHEERARE LB TERX

KBNS LR o

TRAIREBHETILAR
B EF R T BRS% RIS © 5%
THE 38 E VA H1 B B R A 32 Al
BEEBATIR AR BRERELL X -
BMRE DA IEAB T
ENEBEHMAEEEEER -
TYERARRIESRBENRE
JCEETTENME - MR A R EER
BB TTEBR I T E X o GURKE
DT IR 45 B B DA SN [ R
B)o5%EE KA THIEH
TAEZETHARBFES%E
T EBRT & BB E A SR
BT D o METHARE
B2 1E5% - Bl g ¥ (E18) & F
BREENERTE -

2015
—E-RE

2014
—F—HF
HK$'000
THETT

HK$'000
FTERT

626 421

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange
risk as the year end exposure does not reflect the

exposure during the year.

BEEERR  ARFHEENER
Bt N BERBRF MR - R
REJE 0 AT A BE I Bk [E] 7 51 BE

G
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o
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(For the year ended 31 March 2015)
(BEZ_T-—AF=A=T—HILFE)
34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
pO|iCieS (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate
risk in relation to fixed-rate bank borrowings and
certain amounts due to related parties carrying
fixed interest rates. The Group currently does not

have an interest rate hedging policy.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk in relation to certain the floating-rate
bank balance and bank borrowings at variable

interest rates.

The Group's exposures to interest rates on
financial assets and financial liabilities are detailed
in the liquidity risk management section of this
note. The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is
mainly concentrated on the fluctuations of
prevailing interest rate of the lender and the Hong

Kong Best Lending Rate quoted by the lender.

34. €M TH#)
tREREEEERBE @)

(b)

™% E kR (E)

(i)
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AEBEREREERENEBE
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(BEZ_T-AF=A=T—HILFE)
34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

126

(ii)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to bank
interest rates. The analysis is prepared assuming
the interest-bearing bank borrowings, amounts
due to related parties and amount due to a
controlling shareholder outstanding at the end of
each reporting period were outstanding for the
whole year. A 50 basis point increase or decrease
is used and represent management'’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in interest

rates.

If interest rates on floating-rate interest-bearing
bank borrowings, amounts due to related parties
and amount due to a controlling shareholder had
been 50 basis points higher/lower and all other
variables were held constant, the Group's loss for
the year ended 31 March 2015 would increase/
decrease by HK$157,000 (2014: profit would
decrease/increase by HK$321,000).

For the floating-rate interest-bearing bank
balances, based on the sensitivity analysis, the
directors of the Company consider that the impact
on profit or loss from changes in interest rates is

insignificant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R MEERE

(For the year ended 31 March 2015)

(BE—Z2—

AFE=A=t—HILLFE)

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will
cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligations by the counterparties is arising
from the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement

of financial position of the Group.

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to its
trade receivables. In order to minimise the credit risk,
the management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual trade debt at the end of the reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group's

credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on structured bank deposit, pledged
bank deposits and bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings

assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

As at 31 March 2015, the Group has concentration of
credit risk as 72% (2014: 64%) of the total trade
receivable was due from the Group’s largest customer.
The Group's concentration of credit risk on the top five
largest customers accounted for 96% (2014: 75%) of the
total trade receivable as at 31 March 2015. The
management of the Group considered their the credit
risk of amounts due to these customers is insignificant
after considering their historical settlement record,

credit quality and financial positions.
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(HE=2%

—REZA=+—AILEE)

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains levels of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by the management to finance the
Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors
the utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures
compliance with loan covenants. The Group relies on

bank borrowings as a significant source of liquidity.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The tables
have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash
flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date,
on which the Group can be required to pay. Specifically,
bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the earliest time band regardless of the
probability of the banks choosing to exercise their
rights. The maturity dates for other financial liabilities

are based on the agreed repayment dates.

Liquidity tables
As at 31 March 2015

34. @M TR @)

(b)

cHEREEBERBERE)

REBE SRR
EEERDECRRE  AEESE
rhERRERRSEENE—EE
EERRRIABNAEE L EL R
ReRERBMERZBHIKF - &
EEESRRITEENSABRLER
NAEERRLY - AEBEKBERITER
REREENRBET TR °

TRAMASESRABEORIBRA D
AMBER - ZREZFAHMOTAR
SEARANFNBEH)NERAaE
HWARMRESRERR - ABME -
BERERERGRORITESRGA
RENEREE  THETEEARE
BEBTEEERN - Rt S RAGNS
IR ThERN I E HE K A EE -

mEELFE
R=Z2-HF=ZA=+-—H

Weighted ~ Repayable Carrying

average  on demand Total amount at

effective o less than 4 months undiscounted 31 March

interest rate 1month  1-3 months to 1 year 1-5years  cash flows 2015

RZB-1F

mEYHS  ARERY ABRRE ZA=t-B

EBAZE 1ERUAREE 12388  4ERAE1E 125% MEAE HEREE

% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

AR TAR TAR TAR TAR ThR

Trade payables ZHENFE - 5,989 116 358 - 6,463 6,463

Other payables HipERzE - 10,466 - - - 10,466 10,466
Obligations under BERERK

finance leases 1.86 17 13 58 130 218 208

Bank borrowings RiTfEE
— variable rate —%8 439 38,635 - - - 38,635 38,635
55,107 129 416 130 55,782 55,772

128

L & A International Holdings Limited ® Annual Report 2015
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meMERRME

(For the year ended 31 March 2015)
(BE-Z—RF=ZA=1+—HLLEFE)

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 34. 2T R &)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) €REBEEBERBER#E)
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REBESER &)
Liquidity tables (Continued) HEELF(B)
As at 31 March 2014 R-Z—NMF=A=+—H

Weighted ~ Repayable Carrying

average  on demand Total  amount at
effective  or less than 4 months undiscounted 31 March
interest rate 1month  1-3 months to 1 year 1-5years  cash flows 2015
R=8-1%

jill: £ BRERT *EREE =A=1-H
ERAZ 1ERNREKE 12388  4EAE1E 1Z5F REAE HiREE

% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAL BT TR AL TAT TAT

Trade payables BHENTA - 6,047 N 18 - 6,336 6,336
Other payables HipfEl R - 13914 - - - 13914 13914
Amount due to JEfT—210k

a controlling shareholder REZE

— non-interest bearing —T3tE - 836 - - - 836 836

— variable rate —%8 334 4194 - - - 4194 4194
Amounts due to directors ENESEZE - 787 - - - 787 787
Amounts due to related JERTE# A 50E

parties

— non-interest bearing —T3tE - 8,503 - - - 8,503 8,503

— variable rate —%8 400 4,000 - - - 4,000 4,000

— fixed rate —E8 400 5,000 - - - 5,000 5,000
Obligations under finance ~ B&AHERERH

leases 236 40 81 333 438 892 840
Bank borrowings RITfEE

— variable rate —28 431 56,036 - - - 56,036 56,036
Bank borrowings RITfEE

— fixed rate —E8 450 11,563 - - - 11,563 11,563

110,920 352 351 438 112,061 112,009
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(HE==

—REZA=+—AILEE)

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

130

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Bank borrowings with a repayable on demand clause
are included in the “repayable on demand or less than
1 month” time band in the above maturity analysis. As
at 31 March 2015, the aggregate amounts of these bank
loans amounted to HK$38,635,000 (2014:
HK$67,599,000). Taking into account the Group's
financial position, the directors do not believe that it is
probable that the banks will exercise their discretionary
rights to demand immediate repayment. The directors
believe that such bank loans will be repaid within one
year after the end of the reporting period in accordance
with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements. At that time, the aggregate principal and
interest cash outflows will amount to HK$39,349,000 for
the balance outstanding at 31 March 2015 (2014:
HK$69,380,000).

The amounts included above for variable rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are
subject to change if changes in variable rates differ to
those estimates of interest rates determined at the end

of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
meMERRME

(For the year ended 31 March 2015)
(BE-Z—RF=ZA=1+—HLLEFE)

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 34. 2T R &)
(c) Fair value measurements of financial (c) ETRMITAENAFEE

instruments

Some of the Group's financial assets are measured at
fair value at the end of each reporting period. The
following table gives information about how the fair
values of these financial assets are determined (in
particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used) as
well as the level of the fair value hierarchy into which the
fair value measurement are categorised based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value

measurements is observable.

REREER  AREETLREE
PEATERE - TRRSIEERE
SBAEATEOIE(HHIRAF
VTR R AR R IRE
ATEH B8 A BB TBRREH
AFEHESREAFESRNE
Bt o

Fair value
Financial asset Fair value as at 31 March hierarchy
EREE REA=+—HWATE DHEER

2015 2014

T —T—mEF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAT
Investments held for trading ¥ {EBEXRE (K/:Ei) Level 1
(note i) = 365 ER

Designated as at FVTPL EE AR AT ER ABRE
— structured bank deposit — EEMIRITIER Level 2
(note i) (Btatii) 8,399 8,389 B2
Notes: Kt -

(i) The fair values of investments held for trading are
determined with reference to quoted bid prices in the
active market.

(i) The fair value of the structured bank deposit is based on
its redemption price quoted from the bank, where the
significant key input in the valuation model is the
exchange rate of RMB against US$.

There were no transfers between level 1 and 2
throughout the year.

The management considers that the carrying amounts
of the financial assets and financial liabilities of the
Group recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated
financial statements at the end of the reporting period
approximate their fair values. Such fair values have been
determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis,
with the most significant inputs being the discount rate
that reflects the credit risk of counterparties.

() HEEERENATFEDZENE
BTSN MEET -

(i) AEWMERITERODFERIRIRIT
FrfBm BT - 8 EREAN
FEBABBRARE R RTAE

REEFER  F—REE_HZH
W BAEAATET -

EEERR  ARBRBZREMRR
BERAFTAGAMBRROERE
EheBBERTERLQTENR
He ZERNTEDBEERBRAS
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DEXBABERRREF HEER
BREYREER K o
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(BE-_Z—RF=ZA=1+—HLLEFE)

35. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION 35. EXFREXH
During the year ended 31 March 2015, a dividend of HE_Z-—AF=A=+—HILFE K
HK$14,717,000 was declared to Yang's Holdings Capital A 7] [/ Yang's Holdings Capital Limited &
Limited of which HK$10,600,000 was settled by offsetting TRAZ 214,717,000 7T + H A 10,600,000 7%
against the amount due by Yang's Holdings Capital Limited 7T # #@ #H $HYang's Holdings Capital
to the Group. Limited JE AR SR EFHIEE T o
During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Group entered HEZZ-—MF=A=+—HLLFE K
into finance lease arrangements in respect of motor vehicles SEBAERRMEBEERY IS RH
with a total capital value at the inception of the leases of 42 & BN LA H BB A 709,000 7T ©
HK$709,000.
36. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 36. EEREBLTF
Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries as at 31 March RZE-RAFRZZE-—HF=A=+—H"
2015 and 2014 are as follows: RARWMEEWBEATFHENT
Issued and
fully paid
Place and date of Place of share capital/ Equity interest
Name of subsidiary incorporation/establishment operation registered capital attributable to the Group Principal activities
AL/ BETRAR AEERT5IAH
WEARER RIMER A By RE/EmER JEfh R AR i TEEH
2015 2014
—E-1f
L & A Group of Companies Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$38,400,000 100% 100%  Marketing of garment
Limited 14 March 2001 products
REEEARAF B B 38,400,000 100% 100% HERRER
—ET-F=AtlmA
Times Asia Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Marketing of garment
18 September 2002 products
REBRAT &R e 10,0007 100% 100% HEREER

it Sk Sy WAVE!

Sun Dynamic Group Limited  British Virgin Islands ("BVI") -~ Hong Kong US$3,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
3 January 2006

Sun Dynamic Group Limited ~ EBEX#S &R 300057 100% 100% RERR
(RBRLES))
“TTRE-A=H

Rise More Corporation Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100%  Investment holding

Limited 14 November 2003
BHERLA i &R 10087 100% 100% REER

“EE=F1+-A+RA
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(BE-Z—RF=ZA=1+—HLLEFE)

36. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 36. XEMBLT (&)

Name of subsidiary

WELARER

Place and date of

incorporation/establishment

AL/
R BER A S

Place of
operation

Seny

Issued and

fully paid

share capital/
registered capital
BETRAR
R/ EfER

Equity interest
attributable to the Group
AEERTIAH

ElERF RS
2015
~2-1%

2014

Principal activities

Winsky Management Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited 13 October 2000 and leasing of motor
vehicle
BREBERRA B B 1007 100% 100% RABKRRIERS
“EEEELATEA
Able Rich Management BVI Hong Kong Us$t 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited 5 January 2013
Able Rich Management AERLEE A 1% 100% 100% RERR
Limited “F-=f-AnA
Sino Shine Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 100% 100%  Retailing of garment
10 November 2000 products
#ig B Bh 1,000,000/ 7T 100% 100% REERTE
“EETFET-AtH
Ganzhou Rise More The PRC The PRC US§3,100,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing and
Knitters Ltd 9 February 2004 marketing of
("Ganzhou Rise More") as awholly foreign garment products
owned enterprise
FNEAGERRAF G G 310000057 100% 100% RERFERKER
(E tib-vad) “ZEME_ANA
(FRIIEBELE)
Hui Jia Knitters (Huizhou) The PRC The PRC US$3,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing and
Limited ("Hui Jia Knitters") 27 February 2004 marketing of
as a wholly foreign garment products
owned enterprise
EMTERMEERAT Gl e 3,000000% 7T 100% 100% SEREEREKER
(Ex8E) “EEMF-A-TLA
(ERIEEEALR)
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37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 37. FLOFHMBKRE
THE COMPANY

2015 2014
—E-AHF e
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSET ERBEE
Unlisted investments in subsidiaries RKEARIAZELETRE 66,102 -
CURRENT ASSET REBEE
Prepayments and deposits FAfNFRIE RS 327 -
Amounts due from subsidiaries [ NGIE R 48,290 -
Cash and cash equivalents BeMRESEEY 428 -
49,045 -
CURRENT LIABILITY REBEE
Other payables and accruals HAb I FUE R EET B A 1,038 -
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEERE 48,007 -
NET ASSETS EEFE 114,109 -
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEAXR#E
Share capital A&7 40,000 -
Reserves G (i) 74,109 -
TOTAL EQUITY B 114,109 -
Note: Wi
(i) Reserves (0 EEiE

Special  Accumulated
reserve losses

Gyl ZEtE1E

HK$'000 HK$'000
FHL FHTL

At 5 June 2014 (date of incorporation) W=—Z—M&EXARH

(GEf Az B H) - - - -

Profit and total comprehensive FRENEEEKRBRE

income for the year - - 8,901 8,901
Issue of ordinary shares of REEBERET

the Company pursuant to KA RE@BAL

a group reorganisation - 56,102 - 56,102
Placing of shares BRERH 50,000 - - 50,000
Capitalisation issue BT (20,000) - - (20,000)
Transaction costs attributable to BT FE(ERIA B A AN

issue of shares (6,177) - - (6,177)
Dividend declared EERRE - - (14,717) (14,717)
At 31 December 2014 RZE—NF+=A=1+—H 23,823 56,102 (5,816) 74,109
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(BE—Z2—

AFE=A=t—HILLFE)

38. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The following events took place subsequent to 31 March

2015:

(a)

On 17 April 2015, the Company entered into a non-
legally binding memorandum of understanding (the
"MOU") with an independent third party to explore the
possibility of participating in a children’s apparel retail
business in the PRC (the “Proposed Acquisition”). Upon
execution of the MOU, the Company amongst others,
will have an exclusive and legally binding right for six
months to negotiate with the counter party or such date
that the parties may mutually agree, as well as legal
obligations to maintain confidentiality of the Proposed

Acquisition.

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at a special
general meeting of the Company on 20 April 2015, the
share subdivision of every one issued and unissued
ordinary share of HK$0.10 each in the share capital of
the Company into ten subdivided shares of HK$0.01
each, such that the authorised share capital of the
Company is HK$100,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000
shares with a par value of HK$0.01 each was approved.

On 29 May 2015, the Company entered into another
MOU, with an independent third party which intends to
secure its globally recognized fashion apparel retail
business and operate its business in multiple cities in
the PRC (the "Proposed Investment”). The Company is
interested in participating in the Proposed Investment
and is willing to explore various opportunities of the
Proposed Investment with the counter party. Upon
execution of the MOU, the Company amongst others,
will have a legally binding six months exclusivity to
negotiate with the counter party or such date that the
parties may mutually agree, as well as legal obligations

to maintain confidentiality of the Proposed Investment.

38. MEMERER

T EHBEER T —
ikt &

(a)
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- SEAEEEEFESWELR
= e
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ARFIBRFRAG BBz —BE
BRER - CHESRARRATE
BEECI0E Tz B~ REETRAK
BITE BB RATREREEO0.O
BILORERD 2RO DY - BRAR
] 7% JE B 7R # 7% 100,000,000 7T -
3 /10,000,000,000 A% % % T {E0.01
ABITZBAD

RZZE-—RAFRA=TNIA  ARdA
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THREE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
ZFHGaR

2015 2014 2013

—E-RF —E—OF —E—=%F

HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TERT FHT T

Revenue g 350,386 380,445 374,087

Gross profit EF 62,090 70,923 67,818

Operating profit (loss) LR T (E18) (16,435) 11,472 22,728

Profit (loss) for the year FRm A (Ei8) (18,391) 7,053 14,608

Financial position BRI

Assets and liabilities EENAE

Total assets BERE 190,335 227,018 225,871

Total liabilities BERE 61,718 118,687 125,262
Capital and reserves BER K f#

Total equity HEm A 128,617 108,331 100,609
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